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Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022
The directors present their Strategic report on the Group and Company for the year ended 31 Deccmber 2022.

Results for the year

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 16, which shows a loss before
taxation for the year of €297,930,000 (202 profit of €10, 140.000).

Review of business and future developments

The Company owns the shares of {NEOS Commercial Services UK Limited and INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth
Limited, both UK domiciled companies. and is the majority shareholder of Grangemouth Energy Company Limited,
also a UK domiciled company. These companics constitute the Grangemouth business of INEOS O&P UK (“the
Group™).

The Grangemouth business produces olefins, olefins by-products, synthelic ethanol and a range of polymers, Prodocts
are sold cither directly or through a network of Limiied Risk Distributors across Europe [or which the Group pays a
small margin,

The Group has recognised an cxceptional impairment charge of €223,585.000 for the year ¢nded 31 December 2022,
in relation 10 the tangible fixed assets. The recent trading performance of the O&P UK business has been challenging
in the midst of markct volatilily that has seen very high natural gas prices. Consequently, operating ratcs have
remained constrained. The impairment loss was based on a value in usc calculation. The business valuation was
negatively impacted by lower than expected cash flows within the current business plan, reflecting the chalienging
econormic and compeltitive conditions expected in the near term for the site.

The Group cncountered various challenges during the year, the effects of nigh inflation, the Ukraine war and reduced
market demand due 1o reduced consumer confidence in demand {rom their customers. During the {irst 6 months of
the year, although challenging, the business continued to sce high demand and profitability. However, the sccond 6
months were dilficult as a result of market volatility. Demand for the business’ products declined as a result of reduced
consumer demand and cheaper imports into Europe being available particularly from the U.S. The impact ol the
Ukraine war, which broke out in February 2022, saw energy prices cscalale beyond the very high level already scen
in Q4 2021 which had a profound impact on the business due lo the Group’s high stcam and power demand, resulting
in significant exposurc to natural gas prices.

During Seplember and November 2022, there were planned turnaround events (TAR) on the Polymer plants. During
2 TAR the plant is shutdown to perform critical maintenance activities and the production volume of the site is reduced
during the outage period. The TAR was delivered safely, on time and on budget.

During the year, the Group invested €170,856,000 in assets under construction additions which mainly related to the
new encrgy plant, the TAR on the Polymer assets and an additional furnace on the gas cracker to increase production
capacily.

On 30 December 2021, Peiroineos Refining Limited, the minority rclated party shareholder, gave notice to stop
investing in the encrgy praject and planned to exit as 4 shareholder. Any future funding after this datc will be provided
solely by the Company, subsequently on 5 April 2022, due to escalating costs on the new energy project caused by
delays due to COVID working restrictions and impact o commodity prices, the directors took the decision to
temporarily suspend the project. At the date of signing these financial statements lhe length of the subsequent delay
and the impact to the uliimate operational date of the plant is not known.

Looking forward into 2023 the business expects the natural gas price to remain high, although at lower levels than
experienced in 2022, Demand is cxpected o grow during the first half of 2023 ay customers re-stock, however levels
of imports from the U.S will remain a challenge. The business also expects to commission the additional furnacc on
the gas cracker thus cnabling higher utilisation levels subject 1o demand. The new encrgy project will continve to be
temporarily suspended during 2023 and the business will continue to manage its cost base and capilal expenditure in
fine with affordability.

On 10 Junuary 2023. the Group repaid in full their Senior Term and Revolving loan Faciliues. This was facilitated by
a loan from the parent company INEGS Industrics Holdings Limited.
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Review of business and future developments (continued)

As referenced earlier, the Group encountered various challenges during the year such as the effects of high inflation
and the Ukraine war, which had a profound impact on the business due to the Group’s high steam and power demand,
resulting in significant cxposure o natural gas prices. Accordingly, the Group requested and was granted consent (o
wiaive the leverage financial covenant at both 30 May 2022 and 22 September 2022, The leverage covenant at 31
December 2022 was remedialed post year end via the lull repayment ol the Senior Term and Revolving Loan Facilities
on 10 January 2023.

Sirategy

The Group's strategic aim is to use the benefils of our advantaged feedstock for the K cthylene cracker o grow the
Grangemouth base and our long-term profitability. T.ong-term supply contracts are in place to provide a secure source
of advaniaged feedstock from the USA and the North Sea, which will eliminate the feedstock constraints the business
has been opcrating under in previous years and allow the assets to be operated at full capacity to maximise production
and profitability.

During the year, thc businesses on the Grangemouth sile announced its ‘Road Map’ to achieving Nct Zero. The
significant integration of the three site businesses at Grangemouth (INEQS Q&P UK, INEOS FPS and Petroineos)
has meant that the journey embarked upon is a collaborative one. Emission savings of more than 60% (compared o
2006 when INEOS acquired the site) across the site are targcted by 2030, through a scries of investments, parinerships
and innovative engincering. The Road Map involves a proposed move to the production and use of hydrogen by ali
businesses at the Grangemouth site accompanied by carbon capture and storage of at least | million tonnes per annum
of COz by 2030, This will include capturing CQ; from existing hydrogen production and the construction of a carbon
capture cnabled hydrogen production plant.

In addition, the regeneration programme on the Grangemoulth site has already remediated large areas, on which we

hope to attract both internal INEOS and external investment. This investment will utilise the utilities and services
already available with the intention to grow the Grangemouth manulacturing basc.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the cxecution of the Group’s strategy arc subject to a number of risks.
Management undertakes an annual risk identilication and assessment process to identify the key business risks
affecting the Group. The key business risks affecting the Group which were identified within this risk assessment
process arc sct out below:

¢ The perrochemical industry is cyclical — changing market demands and prices may negatively affect the
Group’s operating margins and impair its cash flow which, in turn, could affect its ability to make payments
on its debt or Lo make [urlher investments in the business;

*  Raw malerials and suppliers — if the Group is unable to pass on increases in raw malerial prices, or to rctain
or replace its key suppliers, its operations and results may be negatively affected;

* International operations and currency fluctuations — the Group is exposed Lo currency fluctuation risks as
well as o economic downturns and local business risks in several different countries that could adverscly

affect 15 profitabilily;

*  Competition - significant competition in the Group's industries, whether through cfforts of new and current
competitors or through consolidation of existing cusiomers, may adversely affect its competitive position,
salcs and overall operations;

* Inability 10 maximisc utilisation of assets — the Group may be adversely affected if it is unable 1o implement
its strulegies lo maximise utilisation ol assets;

*  Synergies - the Group may nol realise anticipated revenuc and cost synergies, henelit from anlicipated
business opportunilies or experience anticipated growth from any of is acquisitions;
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

®  Outbreaks of diseasc — the outbreak of contagious diseases may have a negative impact on the Group's
business and performance, and an adversc impact on the global economy generally. During the course of
2021 and into 2022, the Group has managed the outbreak ol the COVID-19 coronavirus by implementing
various measures 1o ensurc the safety of employecs and the ongoing operation of the plants;

e  Substantial debt — the Group’s substantial debt could adversely affect its financial position and prevent it
from fulfilling its debt obligalions;

s (Cyber security — a cyber incident could occur and result in information theft, data corruption. opcrational
disruption and/or financial loss;

*» Climate change — existing and proposed regulations to address climate change by limiling greenhouse gas
¢cmissions may cause us to incur significant additional operating and capital expenses. In addition compliance
with new regulation could limit the useful economic life of our plants, lcad to a reduction in demand for fossil
fuel derived products and result in a lack of competitiveness if our competitors develop new technologies.

+  Regulation — the Group is highly regulaied and may have substantial obligations and liabilitics arising from
health, safety, sccurity and environmental {(“HSSE™) laws, regulations and permits applicable to our
operations;

e Customers — the Group is subject to the risk of loss resulting from non-payment or non-performance by our
customers. Our credit procedures and policies may not be adequate to minrimise or mitigate customer credit
risk. Our customers may experience financial difficulties. including barnkruptcies, restructurings and
liquidations;

* Employees — the success of the Group depends on the continucd service of certain key personnel and on
good relations with our workforce as any significant disruption could adversely affect the Group.

Section 172(1) statement

The dircetors have the duly under section 172 1o promotc the success of the Group for the benefit of siakcholders as a
wholc and remain conscious of the tmpact their decisions have on employees, communities, supplicrs, customers,
investors and the environment. In the performance of its duty to promote the success of the Group and fairness in
decision making the Board have regard (amongst other matters) for:

a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long-term;

b) thec interests of the Group's employees:

¢} the nced to foster the Group's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

d) the impact of the Group's operations on the community and the environment;

¢) the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation tor high standards of business conduct; and
f) the need to act (airly as belween members of the Group.

The Group’s governance and processcs are operated to ensure that all relevant matters arc considered by the Board in
its principal decision-making, as 4 means of contributing to the delivery of the Group's long-term success. which are
discussed below.

Long-term fuctors {a)

The Group's principal objectives are to maintain its position as a key global supplier of its products and to increasc
the value of INEOS by generaling strong, sustainable. and growing cash flows across industry cycles. To achieve
these objectives, the Group has the following key strategies:

a) Maintain health. safety, security, and environmental excellence;
b) Maintain and grow the Group's leadership positions to enhance competitivengss:
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Section 172(1) statemenl {continued)
Long-term fuctors {a; {continued)

¢) Reduce costs and realise synergies;

d) Maximise miilisation of asaets;

¢) Access advantaged feedstock and encrgy opportunilies; and
N Devclop and implement a sustainable business.

The Group aims to operate and develop its business in a way that supports both the current and future needs, taking
into account relevant economic, environmental, and soctal factors. This enables the Group to sustain the business for
the long-term. The directors strongly belicve that sustainable business management and practices will contribute 10
long-term business success and will strengthen the Group’s leading position in the market and also in a circular world.
The directors cnsure that the Group has sufficient resources to support its long-term growth strategy and to fund its
investments. An important clement is thie Group's long-werm cash and operational planning in relation to the capital
requirements needed to grow and o extend the life span of the assets. The dircetors consider available and required
funds as a basis for any dividend under its distribution policy.

Stakeholder considerations (b — €)

Engaging stakcholders and developing meaningful partnerships is essential lor long-term business success. The Group
engages in regular, open, and proaclive dialoguc with all relevant stakeholders as this is needed Lo understand their
perspectives, expectations, concerns, and needs. For example in many instances suppliers are located on the same
chemical parks which helps develop partnerships, facilitate discussions as well as reduce waste, incfficicncy. The
Group also works with trade unions and have open and constructive discussions as well as investing in training
programmes to continue to develop cmployees at all levels of the organisation. In this way. the Group is able to
integrate stakeholder’s considerations into business decision-making processes. Dialoguc with stakeholders gives the
Group the opportunity to explain its clear and commitled approach to sustainability as well as the vatue of the Group's
work, products and services for society.

Key stakeholders contribute to the Group’s ¢cconomic, social, and environmental performance. Stakcholders include
customers, suppliers, employees, investors, financial experts and rating agencies, local communities, industry
associations, NGOs, scientific institutions, universities, government, and value chain partners. The Group is very
conscious of having a sustainable business so INEOS produces an annual sustainability report which aligns with the
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) framework and focuses on the issues most material to the Group and its stakeholders.
The report focuses on seven key arcas, being:

Climate chunge - advancing the transition to nct zcre;

Circular cconomy — maximising resource cfficicney and eliminating wastc;
Zcro pollution — driving progress towards sustainable chemical value chains;
Qur people - prioritising workplace health and safety (SHE) and fairness;
Peoplc in our value chain - safeguarding conditions and human rights;
People in our communitics — respecting and supporting local communitics,
Governance — maintaining the highest standard of ethics and compliance.

HER R

These mauers are considered by the directors in making decisions and in assessing the long-term viability of the
business.

The Group is commilted (o maintaining a workplace that is safe, professional, and supportive of tcamwark and trust.
The Group is committed to creating and sustaining a work environment of ntual trust where all employees are treated
with respect and dignity, compensated fairly based on locul market conditions, and are entitied to adequate working
hours. The Group value diversity of its people and each of its employees is recognised as an itnportant member of the
tcam.
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Section 172(1) statement (condnued)

Stakehioider considerations (6 — e} (cortinuedf

The Group is comnmitted Lo proteeting and mamtaiming the quality of the eavironment and Lo promotiog the health and
safety of us emplayees, contractors, supphers, customers, visitors, and the communities in which it operates For
example INEQS is a sigpatory 1o the Internationa) Counci) of Chemica! Assogialions’ (JCCA) Responsible Cure
Global Charter whick demonstrates the Group’s cummitmeat 1o strengthening chemicals management systems,
saleguarding people and the environment, and  working towards sustainable solutions thraugh our value Sham.
Compliance with all legisiation intended to protect people, property and the environment is one of the Group’s
fundamesial pricrities and applies to its products as well as to its processes. Munugernenlt lead by example and allocate
the required resources to achicve excellence in SHE performance.

The need to act fairly as between members of the Group (f)

The Group has a single sharcholder and a single ulimare controlling parly. Their interests arc taken into account hy
the directors to promate fairness in dectsion making

Principal Decisions

Un 5 April 2027, due to escalaling costy on the new energy projcet caused by delays due to COVID working
restrictions and impact o commadity prices, the directars ok the decision to lemparardy suspend the project,

Kcy performance indicalors (*KPIs'”)
The Group uxcs a number of financial and non-tinancial key performance indicators (“KPIs™} 1o measure performance,
which are monitored against budget and the prior year.

The main tinancial K21 for the Group 1s earnings before interest, laxation, depreciation. amortisanon and cxceplional
temns ("EBITDA befere exceplional items”). The Group also closely morutors fixed cosls against budgel and prior
year Dciails of actual and comparative EBITDA results arc provided helow:

2022 2024

€e €000

Operatimg {loys)peofic for the year (269,985) 27,825
Ameartisation charge for the year 9 30
Depreciation chacgs for the year 67,302 G4, 106
Exceptional impainmenl charge for the year 223,585 -
21.2% 92,56)

The Group uses a number of other non-financial xey performance indicators (0 measyre performance including healrh,
safety and environmental (“SHE™) metrics such as Occupattonal Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA") ingidant
aced injury racoy o measure the sate wockiag of employees and conteactors. Other KPIs include monitoring the

reliability of operaung assets and workeng capital ratias of the Group.

Approved by the Board and sigiied o benall of the Board of Directors.

P

C (i Movead

Director

4 Jaly 2023

Reguitered Number 0B5984 17
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their reporl and audited financial statements of the Group and the Company for the ycar ended
31 December 2022,

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Group is the production and sale of petrochemical products manufactured at the site in
Grangemouth, Scotland, The main product manufactured by the olefins business is ethylene through the operation of
u gus cracker. The ethylene can then be sold by INEOS Commerctal Services UK Limited into the market, or to the
ethanol and polymer assets on site where it can be manufactured further to produce synthetic ethanol, polyethylene
and polypropylene. The cracker also produces a number of by-products which are either processed further in the onsite
asscts, or sold to cxternal customers through a network of Limited Risk Distributors across Europe for which the
Group pays a small margin. The Group has started constructing a now cnergy plant on the site at Grangemouth,
although the expected operational date is not yet known as the project was paused in April 2022.

INEOS Grangemouth Limiled’s principal activitics are that of a holding company for its direct subsidiary entitics
INEOS Commercial Services UK Limited, INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited and Grangemouth Energy
Company Limited,

Future developments
Futurc developments are discussed in the Strategic report,

Post balance sheet events
Post balance sheet events are discusscd in the Strategic report and Note 27,

COVID-19 and the Ukraine conflict
The Group continues (0 implement contingency plans for the COVID-19 pandemic, with the primary objective of

maintaining the safety of personnel and the reliable operation of the Group’s plants,

The chemical industry is deemed as essential, critical infrastructure by governments across the world. Throughout the
pandemic all of the Group’s plants have continued to operate (ully and supply chains have operated without significant
disruption. Protecting employees and ensuring that they remain healthy has been the first priority ol the Group. All
plants have sufTicient resources and have implemenied measures to cnsure that this remains the case throughout the
pandcmic.

The Group does not have operations in Belarus, Russia or Ukraine. During 2021 and 2022 revenue penerated in these
countries was not material 1o the Group. The Group is not currently experiencing any material disruption (o its
operations and does not foresee any direct impact as a result of the conflict, but wilt continue to monitor the evolving
situation closely.

Whilst there is still unceriainty duc te the COVID-19 pandemic and the disruption on the encrgy market resulting
from the conflict in Ukraine, the dircctors have undertaken a rigorous asscssment of the potential impact on demand
for the Group’s products and services and the impact on margins for the next 12 months and the directors do notexpect
a malerial impaclt on the Group's ability Lo opcrale as a going concern.

Going Concern

The directors have considered the Group’s projected future cash flows and working capital requirements for a period
ol al lcast 12 months from signing of these financial statements. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net assets of
€293,334,000 (2021: €557,470,000). The Group held cash of €42,328,000 (2021 €32,955,000) and loans and
borrowings of €674,035,000 (2027 €517,687,000). The loss for the ycar was €261,799.000 (2021 profit
€14,637,000). The dircctors have stress tested the projected future cash flows through taking account of reasonablc
possible changes in performance to determine the level of support that may be required from the parent company. The
directors have received confirmation that the parent, INEOS Industrics Limited, will continue Lo support the Group
for at least the {2 months from signing of these financial statements.

After making enquirics, the dircctors have a reasonable expectation thal the parent’s going concern assessment
confirms that there is sufficient forecast commitied liquidity headroom for the parent to provide this support and the
Group will therefore have adequate resources to continue in operational cxistence for the foresccable future.
Accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements,
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Financial risk management

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in price risk, credit
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group has in place a risk management programme thal seeks (o limit the
adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group where appropriate. The Group is exposed to commeodily
price risk as a result of its operations and secks to mitigate this risk through various purchasing strategies. The Group
reanages its credit exposures with a set of policies for ongoing credit checks on potential and current custorners or
counterparties. Note 21 of the financial statements provides further information on financial instruments, interest risk,
liquidity risk and loreign currency risk,

ResuMs and proposed dividend

Results are discussed in the Strategic report. The directors do not proposc the payment of a dividend (2021 €Nil).

Political and charitable contributions

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries made any potitical or charitable donations or incurred any political
expenditure during the ycar which are required to be disclosed.

Directors
The dircetors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were as [ollows:

8 M Collings

P Q Grant

C G Mound

A T Hughes (appomted 1 May 2022)
M Plevoelts (resigned 1 May 2022)
Employees

The Group has developed voluntary practices and procedures {or employec involvement appropriate to their own
circumslances and needs. The Group encourages this approach to provide information and consultation and believes
that this promotes a better understanding of the jssucs facing the 1ndividual business in which the employee works.
The Group places considerable value on the invoivement of its employees and keeps them informed on matters
affecting them as employecs and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group by issuing
communications on the group intranct and holding employce information meetings hosted by the Board and opcerating
a bonus scheme linked (o the business performance. The Group consults employees or their representatives through
a works council on a rcgular basis so that the views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions that
are likely to affect their interests.

The Group prohibits acts of discrimination whereby one individual is treated less favourably than another on grounds
of age, disability, gender reassignment. race, religion or belicf, sex, sexual oricntation, macciage and civii partnership
and prcgnancy and maternity. The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled
persens where the requirements of the job can be adequatcely fultilled by a handicapped or disabled persen. Where
existing employees become disabled, it is in the Group's policy wherever practicable to provide continuing
employment under normal terms and conditions and Lo provide training and carcer development and promotion
wherever appropriate.

Streamlined Energy and Cacbon Reporting (“SECR”)

The SECR disclosures relating 1o the Group are included within the SECR disclosures made in the annual report ol
INEOS Industrics Limited. the parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial
stalcments, see Note 25. The Group has taken advaniage of the exemption from the requirement to muake SECR
disclosores 1n these financial statements.
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Health & safety

Our facilitics and operations are subject Lo a wide range of health, safety, security and environmental (“HSSE™) laws
and regulations in all of the jurisdictions in which we operate. These requirements govern, among other things, the
manufacture, storage, handling, treatment, trunsportlation and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, wastewaler
discharges, air emissions, noise emissions, human health and satety, process safety and risk management and Lhe
clean-up of contaminated sitcs. Many of our operations require permits and conltrols to monitor or prevent pollution.
We have incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial ongoing capital and operating expenditures to ensurc
compliance with current and future HSSE laws. regulations and permits or the more stringent enforeement of such
requirements.

Our operations are currently in material compliance with all HSSE laws, regulations and permits. We actively address
compliance issucs in conncction with our operations and properties and we believe that we have systems in place to
ensurc that cnvironmenlal costs and liabilities will not have a material adverse impact on us.

Business relationships

The business relationships with supplicrs and customers arc of strategic importance to the directors of the Group
and their decision-making process. The business relationships of INEOS O&P UK are described in the Section 172(1)

statement in the Strategic report.

Statement of dircctors’ responsibilitics in respect of the financial stalements

The directors are respousible for preparing the Strategic report, the Directors’ report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable faw and regulations.

Company law requires the direclors to prepare financial statements lor cach financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom adopied international
accounting standards. The Group financial statcments also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs} as issued by the TASB. The directors have chosen to prepare the Parent Company financial statcments in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards
and applicable law) including FRS101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™. Under company law the directors must not
approve the financial statements unlcss they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the Parent Company financiai statements, the directors are required (o:
*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
¢ make judgments and accounting estimates that are rcasonable and prudent;

®  statc whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and cxplained in the financial statements; and

®»  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriuate o presume that the
Company will continue in business.
In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:
= properly select and apply accounting policies;

+  present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and undersiandable information;

s provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements of the financial reporting
framework arc insufficicnt o enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events
and condivons on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

e make an assessment of the Group’s ability (@ continue as a going concern.
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Staternent of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements fconrrinued)

The directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accouning records Lhat are sufficient to show and explain the
Group’s trarsactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and enab'e
them w ¢nsure that the financial staiements compty with the Companics Act 2006, They are also responsible for
safcguarding the asscts of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud

and other irrepularities.
Directors’ confirmations
in the case of each director 10 office al the date the Direcrors’ report i3 approved:
® 5o far us the dicector is aware, there is no relevant audil information of which the Group and Company's
auditor 15 unaware; and

® they have taken all Lhe steps that they ought to have taken as a director in otder 10 make themselves awares of
any relevamt audit information and 10 estabitsh that the Group and Compary's auditor is aware of that
information,
‘This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of secuion 418 of the Companics
Act 2006.

Independent Auditor

During the year Deloitte LLP were re-appointed as auditor of the Group and have expressed (heir willingness w
conlinue in office ay audinor pursvant 1o Seclion 485-488 of the Cormpanies Act 2006. Appropriale arrangements have
been put in place for them 1o he deemed re-appointed in the abserce of an Annual General Meeting,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behall of (the Board of Direclors.,

@»4 S )
C G Mound
Directar
4 July 202
Registered number 08698417
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Independent auditor's report to the members of INEOS Grangemouth
Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
[n our opinion:

* the financial statements of INEOS Grangemouth Limited {the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘group’) give a (ruc and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the group's loss for the year then ended;

s the group financial statements have been properly preparcd in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);

s the parent company financial statcments have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framecwork”; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companics Act 2006.

We havc audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated income statement:

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

the consolidated and parent company balance shects;

the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in cquity;

the consolidaied statement of cash flows; and

the rclated notes Lo the consolidated tinancial statements note 1 to 27 and the related notes to the company
financial statements i to 13.

The tinancial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and [FRSs as issued by the [ASB.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements
is applicable law and Urited Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced
Disciosure Framework” United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UKR)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilitics under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
1o our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s") Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requircments. We belicve
that the audit cvidence we have obtained is sulficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of INEOS Grangemouth
Limited (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ usc of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statcments is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any malerial uncertaintics rclating to events or
conditions thal, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability
(o continue as a going concern for a period of ut leasl twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised
for issuc.

Our responsibilitics and the responsibilitics of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s reporl thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.
Our opinion on the financial statcments does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
cxplicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our respousibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstalements, we are
required Lo determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the [inancial statcments themsclves. i
bascd on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard,

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the [tnancial statcments and [or being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intcrnal control as
the dircctors determine is hecessary to cnable the preparation of financial stalements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due (o fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company's
ability to continuc as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend (o liquidate the group or the parent company or to cecase
Operations, or have no realistic aliernative but o do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are (o oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial stalements as a whole arc free from
matcrial misstatcment, whether due to Iraud or crror, and o issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
arg considered malerial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be oxpected Lo influence the
economic decisions of users laken on the basis of these financial statcments.

A further description of our responsibilitics for the audit of the financial stalcments is located on the FRC's website
at: www. fre.org.uk/anditorsresponsibilitics. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of INEOS Grangemouth
Limited (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatcments in respect of irregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures arc capable of detecting irregularitics, including fraud is detailed below,

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed lhe group’s documentation
of their policics and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of
management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irrcgularitics, including
those that arc specific to the group’s busincss scctor.

We obtained an enderstanding of the legat and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, and identificd the

key laws and regulations that:

e had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statcments . These
include UK Companics Act, Money Laundering Regulations, Health and Safety at work legislation, Data
Proteclion Act, Pensions Legislation, Tax legislation and Bribery Act, and

® do not have a direct cffect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the
group's ability Lo operate or 1o avoid a material penalty.

We discussed among the audit cngagement tcam and relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions and IT
regarding the opportunilics and ingentives that may exist within the organtsation for fraud and how and where fraud
might occur in the financial statements.

As aresult of performing the above, we identificd the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our

proccdures performed (o address them are described below:

*  Revenue is generally a highly automated pracess with few complex revenue Lransaction, therefore we
pinpeinted our significant risk 1o non-standard revenue transactions that do not follow the expected transaction
flow (revenuc/debtor/cash). Thosc itcms which did not follow the typical transaction process were investigated
and agreed through to supporting documcntation such as invoice, good dispatch note, third party documentation
and payment to assess whether the revenue has occured.

* Impairment of tangible assets within the O&PUK cash generating unit. We have challenged the rcasonablencss
of the future cash flow assumptions used in the value in usc model, with focus on key assumplions including
natural gas pricing, discount rate and growth rate used. The EBTIDA run rate ycar to date has becn reviewed
and compared 1o budget and foreeast. Furthermore, sensitivities and breakeven analysis have been performed to
understand the circumstances which would result in @ different impairment being recognised. We have
performed a review of management’s contro] procedurcs including review of the impairment model and we
have performed a review of the mathematical accuracy of the model. We also engaged valualion experts Lo
assess the reasonableness of (he discount rate used in the calculation.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), wc are also required to perform specific procedures to respond 1o the

risk of management override. Tn addressing the risk of {raud through management override of controls, we tested the

appropriatencss of journal crtrics and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making

accounting estimaltes are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant

transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

[n addition to the above, our procedurcs (o respond to the risks identified included the following:

* reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation (o assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial stalements;

¢ performing analytical procedures to identify any unusuat or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to fraud:

*  enquining of management and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims,
and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

. reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of INEOS Grangemouth
Limited (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

* the information given in the strategic ropoit uned the directors’ report for the tinancial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial staternents; and

e (he strategic reporl and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements,

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in thc stratcgic report or the

directors’ report.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records havc not been kept by the parent company, or returmns adequate for our audit have
not been reccived from branches not visited by us; or
the parent company financial statcments are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuncration specified by law are not madc; or
we have not received all the information and cxplanations we require for our audit,

We have nothing (o report in respect of these matters,

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members Lthose
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s mcmbers as
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

% e %’{;d

Matthew Hughes BSc (Hons) ACA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitie LLP

Statutory Auditor

Leeds, United Kingdom

4 July 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
Jor the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
€000 €000
Revenue 2 1,184,795 922,682
o8t of sales (1,150,925) (821,797)
xceptional cost of sales 3 (223,585) -
Total cost of sales {1,374,510) (821.797)
Gross (loss)/ profit (189,715) 100,885
Other operaling income - 876
Distribution costs (59,294) (46,746)
Administrative expenses (20,976) (27,190)
Operating (loss)/profit 4 (269,985) 27,825
Finance income 7 2,018 563
Finance costs 7 (20 963) (18,248)
Net finance cost {27,945) (17,685)
(Loss)/profit before taxation from continuing operations (297,930) 10,140
Tax credit 8 36,131 4,497
(Loss)/profil for the financial year (261,799) 14,637
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent {231,165) 14,626
Non-controlling interest (28,634) 1t
(261,799) 14,637

All activities of the Group relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 22 to 68 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Note(s) 2022 202t
€000 €000
{Loss)/profit for the financial year (261,799) 14,637
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
items that will not be recycled 10 profis or loss:
Re-measurement of post-employment benefit plan, nel of tax 8,14 (65,058) 47,726
Items that may subsequently be recycled to profit or loss:
Foreign cxchange transiation differences, net of tax 8 (37,279) 52,803
Other comprehensive {(expense)income for the (162,337) 100,529
financial year, net of tax
Total comprehensive (expense)income Tor the year (364,136) 115,166
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year is
attributable to:
Owners of the parcnt (335,502 115,155
Non-contrelling interest (28,634) 11
(364,136) 115,166
——— e

The notes on pages 22 to 68 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statcments.



Consolidated Balance Sheet

as at 31 December 2022

Non-current assets
Intangsble asscts

Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax asset

Trade and other recervables
Employee benefits

Total non-current assets

Current gssets

Inventones

Trade and other receivables
Tax receivables

Cash and cash cquivalents

Total current assets

Tolal assets

Equity

Share capital
Other reserves
Retained carnings

Total sharebolders' funds
Non-controting interest

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

Trade and other payables

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

[nterest bearing loans and botrowings
Lease liabilitics

‘Trade and other payables

Tax payable

Total curreat liabilities
Total liabilities

Tutal equity and liabilities

15
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2022 2021
€000 €000
12,328 5.600
787,458 940,223
45,087 2,540
23,705 17,596
3,492 88,697
872,070 1,054,656
36,368 94,081
229211 253881
153 11,084
42,328 82,955
358,060 442,001
1,230,130 1,496,657
57 57
(85,593) 16,744
407,485 640,650
321,949 657.451
(28,615) 19
293334 657,470
298,123 444,796
12,764 10,321
16,701 25726
327,588 480,843
375912 72,891
4,781 885
224,646 268,302
3,869 {6.266
609,208 358,344
936,796 839,187
1,230,130 1,496,657
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)
as at 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 22 to 68 are an intogral part of these consolidated financial statements,

These financial statements on pages 16 to 68 were approved by the Board of Directors on 4 July 2023 and were signed
on its behalf by:

€ G Mound
Director
Registered Number 08698417
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Jor the year ended 31 December 2022

Note(s)
Balance at 1 January 2021
Profit for the ycar
Other comprehensive income:
Poreign exchange translation differences 8
Re-mcasurement of post-cmployment K14
benefil plan

Total other comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December 2021

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expenditure:

Fareign exchange translation differences &

Re-measurement of post-cmployment 8,14
bencfit pian

Total other comprehensive ¢xpense

Balance at 31 December 2022

Analysis of other reserves:

Balance at 1 January 2021
Foreign exchange translation differences
Re-measurement of post-emplayment benefit plan

Balance at 31 December 2021

Forcign ecxchange trunslation difterences
Re-measurement ot post-employment benefit plan

Balance at 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 22

INEOS Grangemouth Limited
Annual report and financia! statements

3! December 2022

Non-
Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital  reserves earnings Total interest cquity
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €500
§7  (RI7BS) 626024 542706 8 542,304
- - 14,626 14,626 i1 14.637
- 52,803 52,803 52,803
- 47,726 47,726 47726
100,529 14,626 113,155 I 115,166
57 16,744 £40,650 657451 19 657,470
(133.165)  (233,165)  (2R,634) (261,799)
(37,27%) - (37,279 (37,279
(65,058} {65,058) (65,058}
- (102,337} (233,165) (335,502) (28,634) (364,136)
57 (85,593) 407485 321,949 (28,615) 2933
Re-mmeasure Total
Translation post-employ other
Note(s) YEserve benefit plan reserves
€000 €000 €000
(114,933) 31,148 (R3.78%)
& 52,803 - 52.803
814 - 47,726 47,726
(62,130) 78,874 16,744
8 {37.279 - (37,279)
8,14 (65.058) (65.058)
(99,409) 13,816 (85,593)

10 68 are an integral part of these consolidated financial staicments,
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Jor the year ended 31 December 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the financial year

Adjustments far:

Nl finanue cusy

Tax credit

Deprecialion and impairment

Amortisation

Increase/(decrcase) in provisions and cmployec benefits
Pension service cost

Decreasc/(increase) in trade and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in inveniorics
(Decrease)/inceaase in trade and other payables
Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Proceeds from sale of preperty, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets

Acquisition of progerty, plant and equipment

Net cush used by investing activilies

Cash flows from financing activities
[nterest paid

Drawdown Senior Secured Term Loans
Procceds of relaled party loan

Capital element of lease payments

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net (decrcase)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash eyuivalents at beginning of year
Effcet of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

INEOS Grangemouth Limited
Annual report and financial statements
31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
€000 €000
(261,799) 14,637
7 27,945 17,685
8 (36,131) {4,497)
10 200,887 61,706
9 395 30
21,802 (2.041)
677 856
39,806 (79,482)
6,954 (27.082)
(19,954) 90,822
. (95)
70,582 75,539
294 23
. 3
(17,020) (5,093)
(212,385) (150,662)
(229,111) (155,729)
(6,310) (6,504)
. 85,000
142,903 57.480
(2,014) (721
134,579 135,255
(23,9501 55063
82,955 36,852
(16,677) (11,962)
42,328 82955

The notes on pages 22 te 68 are an intcgral part of these consolidated financial statcments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting Policies

1.1 Overview

INEOS Grangemouth Limited (the “Company™) is a private limited company limited by shares incorporated in the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales. The registered office address is
Hawksleasc, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, England, SO43 TFG. The naturc of the operations and principal
activitics of the Company and its subsidiaries is the production of olefins, olefins by-products, synthetic cthanol and
a range of polymer products and sclling the products either directly or through a network of Limited Risk Distributors
across Europe for which it pays 4 small margin, and the construction of a new energy plant on the Grangemouth site.

1.2 Basis of accounting

The Group financial staterments consolidate thase of the Company and its subsidiaries {(together relerred to as the
“Group™). The Parent Company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate enlity and
about its Group.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted inlernational accounting
standards and with Intermational Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 1ASB which requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. [t also requires management to excrcise judgement in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies. Judgements made by the directors, in the application of these accounting policies that
have significant effcet on the financial statemenls and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the
nexl year are discussed in Note 26,

[n preparing the financial statcments, the directors have considered the impact of climate change, particularly in the
context of the principal risk identified on page 4. There has been no material impact identified on the financial
reporting judgemenls and estimatcs. The directors are awarc of the ¢ver-changing risks alached to climate change and
will regularly assess these risks against judgements and estimalcs made in preparation of the Group's financial
statements.

The accounting policics sct out below have. unless otherwise stated, been applicd consistently o all periods prescnted
in these Group financial statements.

1.3 Going concern

The directors have considered the Group's projected [uture cash flows and working capital requirgments for a period
of at Icast 12 months from signing of these financial statements. As at 3{ December 2022, the Group had net assets of
€293,334,000 (2021: €657,470,000). The Group held cash of €42.328,000 (202): €82,955.000) and loans and
borrowings of €674,035,000 (202F: €5/7,687,000). The loss for thc ycar was €261,799,000 (202!: profit
€14,637,000). The directors have stress tested the projected fulure cash flows through taking account of rcasonable
pussible changes in performance to determinge the level of support that may be required from the parent company. The
directors have reccived confirmation that the parent, INEOS Industries Limited. will continue to support the Group
for at Icast the 12 months from signing of these financial stalements.

Afier making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable cxpectation that the parents going concern assessment
confirms that there is sufficient forecast committed liguidity headroom for the parent to provide this support and the
Group will therefore have adequate resources o continuc in operational cxistenee for the foresecable future.
Accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial stalcments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Jfor the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.4 Measurement convention

The [inancial slalements are prepared on the historical cost basis except thal (inancial instrumenits classificd as lair
value through the prohit or loss are stated as their fair value and non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
are stated at the lower of previous carrying amount and fair valuc less costs (o scll,

15 Functional and presentation currency

These Group financial statements are presented in euro, which is the functional currency of the majority of operations.
The Group's primary products are sold in an international commodities markel which is priced and invoiced primarily
in curos.

The exchange rate as at 31 December 2022 was €1.L0.88490 (2021 €/1.£0.83960).

All financial information presented in euro has been rounded to the nearest €1,000.

1.6 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group, control cxists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly,
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to oblain benefits from its activities. In asscssing
control, potential voting rights that are currently excrcisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the Group [inancial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non-cuntiolling interests in & subsidiary are allocated to the non-
controlling interests even if doing so causcs the non-controlling inlcrests Lo have a deficit balance.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated,
Profits and losscs resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated.

17 Forcign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are {ranslated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the forcign
exchange rate ruling al the date of the trunsaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in {oreign currencies
al the balance shect date are retranslated to the functional currency at the forcign exchange rate ruling at that date.
Foreign e¢xchange differences arising on translation arc rccognised in the profit and loss account except lor differcnces
arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a forcign operation
that is effective, or qualilying cash flow hedges which are recognised directly in other comprchensive income. Non-
monetary assets and liabilitics that are measured in terms of historical costs in a foreign currency are (ranslated using
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary asseis and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that arc stated at fair valuc arc retranslaled to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling al the dates the

fair valuc was determined.

The assets and liabilitics of foreign operations. including goodwill and fair value adjustiments arising on consolidation,
are ranslated to the Group’s presentational currency, euros, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet dale.

The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translaled at an average rate for the ycar where this rale
approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the Lransactions.

Exchange differences arising from Lhis translation of foreign operations are reported as an item ol other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the ranslation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.8 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group

Financial instruments issued by the Group arc treated as cquity only ta the extent that they meet the following two
conditions:

»  they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other finuncial assets or to exchange
{inancial assets or financial liabilitics with another party under conditions that ace potentially unfavourable
to the Group; and

= wherc the instrument will or may be scitled in the Group’s own ¢quity instruments, it is ¢ither a non-derivative
that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Group’s own equily instruments or is a
derivative that will be settled by the Group exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other {inancial assets for a
fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not mel, the procceds of issuc are classified as a financial liability. Where the
instrument so classificd takes the legal form of the Group's own shares, the amounts presented in these financial
statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

1.9 Non-derivative linancial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in cquity and debt securitics, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and tradc and other payables.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivabies are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction cosls that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue, Subsequent 1o inilial recognition they are tested for classification as per 1FRS 9, Tf the trade
recelvables satisly the criteria for cash flow characteristics test and business model Lest as per IFRS 9, then they are
recognised at amortised cost. If they do not qualify for being recogniscd at amortised cost they are recognised at fair
value through profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initialty at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable 1o the
acquisition or issuc. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measurced at amortised cosl using the effective interest
method.

Cashk and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafis that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivaients
for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Jor the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.9 Non-derivative financial instruments {continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially al fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent Lo
initial rccognition, intcrest-bearing borrowings are stated as amortisced cost using the effective interest method, less

any impairment losscs.

1.10 Properiy, plant and eguipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historic cost less accumulaled depreciation and accumulated impairment
fosses.

Cosl includes expenditure that is dircetly attributable o the acquisition of the assct. Cost may include the cost ol
materials, labour and other costs directly atiributable o bringing the assets 1o a working condition for their intended
use. Cosl may also include the cost of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site on which they are located.

Asgscts arc capitalised in recognition of future economic bencfit or for Health and Safcty Executive compiiance.
Capital work in progress is held as assets under construction until fully commissioned and transferred into active usc.

Where parts of an itcm of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they arc accounted for as separate
itcms of property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated uselul hves

of cach part of an itcm of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation commences from the date an assel is brought
into service. Land and asscts under construction are not depreciated. The estimated uvseful lives arc as follows:

®  Buildings 20 years
s Plant and machinery 4 — 25 ycars
»  Right-of-use assets 1 — 29 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

The carrying values of property, plant and cquipmenl are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the
Group makes an cstimate of the recoverable amount, which is the higher of the assel’s fair value less cost to seil and
value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset cxcceds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired
and is written down to ils recoverable amount.

Asscts are derecognised upon disposal or when no {uture economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the derecognition of the asset (calcuiated as the diffcrence between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included in the consolidated income statement in the
period in which the item is derecognised.

1.11 Business ecombinations, goodwill and intangible assets

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method except acquisitions under common
control which are outside the scope of IFRS 3. Business combinations are accounted lor using the acquisition method
as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.11 Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets {continued)

Cosls related to the acquisition, other than thosc associated with the issue of debt or equity securitics, are cxpensed as
incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable (s recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity. it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent
changes to the fair valuc ol conlingenl consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

On a transaction-by-transaction basis, the Group clects to measure non-controlling interests, which have both present
ownership interests and are entitled to a proportionate share of net asscts of the acquiree in the event of liquidation,
either al its fair value or at its proportionate intcrests in the recogmsed amounts of the identifiable net assets of the
acquiree at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value at the acquisition
date.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents amounts arising on the acquisition of subsidiarics, associates and joint ventures. All transaction
costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill is stated at cost iess any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating
units and 15 not amortised but s tested annually for impawrment. In respect of equity accounted investecs, the carrying
amount of goodwill is included in (he carrying amount of the investment in the investee.

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the consclidated income statement.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. The inilial cost is the aggregale
amount paid and the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the assels. An intangible assct acquired as
part of a business combination is recognised scparately from goodwill if the asset i1s separable or artses from
contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured reliably.

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged 10 the consehdated income statement on 4 straight-linc basis over the estimated useful lives
of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible asscts with an indefinite useful life and goodwill are
systematically tested for impairment at cach reporting date. Other inlangible asscts are amortised from the date they
are available for use. The estimated uscful lives arc as follows:

s Customer relationships 3 - 12 years

*  Intellectual property rights 10 - 15 yeurs

®»  Non-compete agreements lifc of the agreement
= Licenses up to 15 years

These intangible assers are tcsted for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes in
circumsiances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives are examined on an annual basis
and adjustments, where applicable, arc made on a prospective basis.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.1 Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

Acguisitions under commaen control

Acquisitions under commeon control are accounted for at book valuc. The difference in the book value of the assets
acquired and consideration paid is recognised in the retained camings,

Disposals under commeon control

Disposals under common control are accounted for at book value. The dificrence in the book value of the assets sold
and consideration received is recognised in the retained earnings.

1.12 Impairment

Impairment of financial assels

Trade and other receivables

The Group applies the simplificd approach when providing tor expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9 for its
trade receivables and contract assets. This approach requires the Group to recognise the lifetime expected loss
proviston for all rade receivables taking in consideration historical as well as torward-looking information.

Financial assets which arc considered low risk are not provided for impatrment by the Group.

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increasc in
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

Impairment of non-financial assets excluding inventorics and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non—financial asscts, other than inventories and deferrcd tax assets arc assesscd
al the end of the reporting petiod to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

For poodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinitc useful lifc and intangible assets that are not yet
available for usc, the recoverable amount is cstimated at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit cxceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses rccognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to cash-generuting units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
on a pro tata basis. A cash gencrating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other asscts or groups of assets.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The rccoverable amount is the greater of fair valuc less cost to scll and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
cstimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 4 pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the lime value of moncy and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined lor the
cash-generating unit 1o which the asset belongs.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.12 Impairment (continued)

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is nol reversed.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no
longer cxist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, nel of depreciation and of amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, using the f{irst-in first-out method, and net realisable value. Cost includes
the purchase price, including taxes and duties and transport and handling directly atiributable to bringing the inventory
to its present location and condition. In the casc of manufactured inventorics and work in progress, cost includes an
appropriate share of overbeads based on normal operating capacity. Net rcalisable value is the price at which stocks
can be sold in the normal course of business afler allowing for the costs of realisation. Provisions are made for
obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate. [tems owned by the Group that are held on consignment
at another enlity’s premiscs are included as part of the Group’s inventory.

1.14 Commodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue Lo be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-financial items in
accordance with the Group's expecled purchase, sale or usage requirements (own-use contracts) are not accounted tor
as derived finance instruments, but rather as executory contracts.

1.15 Employee benefits

The Group provides a range of benefits Lo employees, including annual bonus arrangemenis, paid holiday
arrangements and defined berefit and defined contribution pension plans.

Defined contribution plan
The Group operates a defined contribution plan for its employees.

A defined contribution plan is a post-cmployment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate cntity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions
1o the defined contribution pension plan are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statements as
incurred. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Group in independently administered funds.

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a post-cmployment bencefit plan that is not a defined contribution plan. The Group operates
a defined benefit plan for certain employees, The defined benefit pension plan was historically final salary in nature,
with a normal retirement age of 60. The plan is now closed (o any new entrants and [rozen o future accrual. The plan
operates under trust law and is managed and administered by Trustees in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed
and Rules and relevant legislation. The assets of the scheme are held separately from thosc of the Group.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.15 Employec benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plan (continued)

The Group’s net obligation in respeet of the defined benefit pension plan and other post-employment benefits is
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value; and the fair value of any plan assets
(at bid price) are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credil rated bonds denominated
in the currency of, and that have maturity dates approximating to the terms of, the Group’s obligations. The calculation
is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defincd benefit obligation and
the fair valune of plan assets. This cost is recognised in profit or less as a *finance cxpense’ or “{inance income’.

When the benefits of a plan are amended or curtailed, the portion of Lhe increased or decreased benefit relating to past
service by employees is recognised as an expense immecdiately in the consolidated income statement.

The Group recognises actuarial gains and losscs in the period they occur dircctly in equity through the stalement of
comprehensive income.

The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full.
The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between:

= operaling charges;

*  nct finance costs; and

= recognised directly in cquity, the remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations.

The cost of the defined bencfit plan, recognised in prolit or loss as employce costs, except where inctuded in the cost
of an asset, comprises:

w the increase in pensicen benefit liability arising from employce service during the period; and

* the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and scttlements.

Short-term benefits

Short~term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided, A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing
plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation Lo pay this amount as a result of past service provided
by the employce and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

1.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classitied as cquity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuc of ncw shares arc shown
in cquity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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1.17 Revenue

Revenue represcats the invoiced value of products and services sold or services provided to third parties net of sales
discounts, value added taxes and duties. Contracts for goods and services are analysed Lo determinc the distinct
perlormance obligations against which revenue should be recognised. The amount Lo be recognised (s determined
from the standalone sclling prices for goods and services, allocated to the performance obligations. Revenue is
recognised when (or as) the performance obligations arc satistied by transferring a promised good or scrvice 10 a
customer,

The pricing for products sold is determined by market prices (market contracts and arrangements) or is linked by a
formula to published raw material prices plus an agreed additional amount (formula contracts). Revenue arising from
the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are dispatched or delivered depending on the refevant delivery terms
and point al which the control of the good or service is transferred to the customer.

1.18 Government grants

Government grants are shown in the consolidated balance sheet as deferred income. This income 1s amortised on a
straight line basis over the same period as the tangible fixed assel to which it relates or the life of the related project.

1.19 Finance income and costs

interest income and interest expense are recognised in the consolidated income stalement as it accrues, using the
effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the date the entity’s
right Lo receive paymeats is established. Foreign exchange gains and losscs are reported on a net basis.

Finance costs comprise inlerest payable, finance charges on leases, unwinding of the discount on provisions, net fair
valuc losscs on derivatives, net intcrest on employce benefit liabilities and foreign exchange losses that are recognised
in the consolidated income statement (see foreign exchange accounting policy).

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and from related party loans, net fair value gains on
derivatives and net foreign cxchange gains.

1.20 Taxation

Taxes on Lthe profit or loss for the year comprise current and deterred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement cxcept to the extent that it relates 10 itlems recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in
equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 1ax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payablc in respect of previous
ycars.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary ditferences between the carrying amounts of assets and Habilities for inancial
reporling purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differenccs are not provided
for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the imtial recognition of assets or liabilitics that affect neither accounting nor
taxabie profit other than in a business combination: and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that they will probably not reverse in the loreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or scttdement of the carrying amount of assetls and liabilities, using tax rales enacted or
subsiantively enacted at the cnd of the reporting period. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.
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121 Segmental analysis

The Group determines its operating segments in a manncr consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operaling decision makers. The chiel operating decision-makers are responsible for allocaling resources and asscssing
performance of the operating segments. The chief operating decision-makers arc the members of the executive
committee of the ulumate parent undertaking. INEOS Limited.

An uperating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activitics from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues and cxpenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components and for which discrete financial information is available. An operating segment’s operating results are
reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision-makers to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the
scgment and asscss ils performance.

The Group’s primary formal foc segmem reporting is based on business segments. The business segments are
determined based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure and the aggregation criteria set oul in
IFRS 8.

Segment results that are reported (o the chief operating decision-makers include items directly attributable to a segment
as weli as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Segment capital expenditure is the total payments made during the period 1o acquire property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets other than as acquired through business combinations.

1.22 Emission trading scheme

The Group participates in the UK Emissions Trading Scheme. The Scheme encourages companies to reduce carbon
emissions by offering financial incentives if they achieve their annual reduction targets, If a company reduces
emigsions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded in ¢he form of cmissions permits.

The incentive money due from the UK Emissions Trading Scheme is recognised in the profit and loss account once
the reduction targets have been mel. The emissions permits allocated under the Scheme are at nil cost. The Group
recognises the revenue from such permits upen their sale Lo third parties.

The Group accrues tor emissions produced. The accrual is measured at the carrying amount of the emission rights
held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, in the casc of a shortfall. at the current fair valuc of the cmission rights
needed,

Emissions allowances purchased from third partics are recogrised as an intangible assel based on the cost associated
with the purchasc. The emission allowances are subject to impairment under the indcfinite lived intangible assct
impairment model. There 1$ no amortisation of these allowances, The costs of the allowanges are recognised as a
disposal and released to the profit and loss along with the accrual as they arc utilised.

1.23 Exceptional items

The prescntation of the Group’s resuits separately identifies the cffect of the profits and losses on the disposal of
businesses, the impairment and the reversal of impairment of non-current assets, the cost of restructuring acquired
busincsses and the impact of one-off cvents such as legal settlements as exceptional items. Results excluding disposals,
impairments, restructuring costs and one-off items are used by management and arc presenied in order to provide
readers with clear and consistent presentation of the underlying operating performance ol the Group’s ongoing
business.
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1.24 IFRS 16 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group asscsses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A coniract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 1n exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right o control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses
the definition ol a lease in 1FRS 16.

Group as aq lessee
Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-ot-use assets at the commencement date of the lease {i.e.. the date the underlying asset is
available lor use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cosl, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusied for any remecasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised and lease paymenis made at or before the commencement date, plus any inilial direct cosls
incurred and an estimale of costs 1o dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which 1t is localed. less any leasc incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the
end of the Icase term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lcase
term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that casc the right-
ol-use assct will be depreciated over the uscful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if
any, and adjusted {or certain remcasurcments of the leasc lability.

Lease liabilities

Al the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises Jease Jiabilities measuored at the present value of leasc
payments to bc made over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The leasc payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), variable lease payments thal
depend on an index or a rate (initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date), amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees less any lease incentives receivable. The Jease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase opuon reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penaltics for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option Lo terminate, The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment ocelrs.

The lease liability 1s subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease lability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the icase payments made. In
addition, the carrying ameunt of lease liabilities is remeasurcd if there is a modification, a change in the icase term,
change in the in-subsiance {ixed lease payments, a change in the assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset, a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount e¢xpected to be payable under a residual
value guarantce.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way and there has been no change in the scope of the lease, a
corresponding adjusiment is made (o the carrying amount of the rnight-of-use assel, or is recorded in profit or Joss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-usc asset has been reduced to zero.



INEQS Grangemouth Limited
Annual report and financial statements
31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.24

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-lerm leasc recognilion exemption to all leascs that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. The Group also applics the lease of low-value
asse(s recognition cxemption Lo leases of asse(s that are vatued below €10,000. Lease payments on short-term leascs
and Icascs of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.,

1.25

Changes in accounting policies

The Group financial statements have been preparcd using accounting policies that are consistent with those of the
previons financial year The Group has adopted Lhe following amendments to accounting standards for the first time
in 2022, with effect from | January 2022, although there has been no maierial effect on the Group's financial

statements:

Amendments to TAS 37: Onerous Contraces—Cost of Fulttlling a Contract.

The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract, Costs that relate directly to a contract consist ol both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to [ullilling
contracts {an cxample would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 3.

The amendments update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing
the accounting requirements for business combinations.

Amendments to TAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use,

Under the amendments, proceeds from selling items betore the related item of Property, Plant and Equipment
is availablc for use should be recogniscd in profit or loss, together with the costs of producing those items.
IAS 2 faventories should be applied in identifying and measuring these production costs.

The amendments also clarily the meaning of 'lesting whether an asset is functioning properly’. TAS 16 now
specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is such that it is capable
of being uscd in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for adminisirative
purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial statements shall disclose
the amounts of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that relate to itlems produced that are not an vutput
of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which linc item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income include(s)
such procceds and cost.

Anpual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020:

IFRS i: Subsidiary as a first-time Adopter — The ameudment provides additional reficf to a subsidiary which
becomes a Nrst-time adopter later than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative translation
dilterences. The amendment allows entities that have measured their assets and liabilities at carrying amounts
recorded in their parent’s books to also measurc any cumulative translation difterences using the amounts
reported by the parent. This amendment will also apply to associates and joint ventures that have taken the
same [FRS 1 exemption.

IFRS 9: Fees in the *10 per cent’ test for derceognition of financiai liabilities — The amendment clarilics
which lees should be included in the |0% test for derecognition of financial liabilitics.

IFRS 16: The amendinent removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leaseheld improvements.

(]
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1.26 Accounting standards not applied

A number of ncw standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning alier 1 January 2023 and
earlier application is permitied; however, the Group has not early adopled the new or amended siandards in preparing
these consolidated financial statcments.

The impact of their adoption is being assessed and is not expected 1o have a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements in the period of initial application. The new standards and amendments are as follows:

® IFRS 17 Insurance Contracis {effective date | January 2023).

s Amendments to TAS 12: Income taxes—deflerred tax relalcd Lo asscts and liabilitics arising [rom a single
transaction (effective date | January 2023).

* Amendments to TAS | Presentation ol Financia! Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure ol
Accounting Policics (effeclive date 1 January 2023).
Amendments to IAS 8: Definitior of Accounting Estimates (effective date 1 January 2023).
Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Labilily in a salc and leaseback (cffective date 1 January 2024).

=  Amendments to IAS | Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (effective date 1 January 2024).

2. Revenue
2022 2021
€000 €000
By geographical location of customers:
LK 393,337 331,942
Rest of Europe 750,772 566,976
The Americas 33872 20,753
Rest of World 6,814 3,011
Total 1,184,795 922,682

All revenue is derived from UK operations and from sale of goods and services. All assets of the Group are located in
the UK.

Revenues of €1,154,376,000 (2021 €904,895,000) have been generated from the sale of product, the remaining
€30,419,000 (2021, €17,787.000) of revenue relates (o the provision of tolling and other scrvices

The uming of revenue recognition lor the vast majority of the Group’s sale transaclions Is al a point in time. Revenues
for goods or services transferred over time are immaterial.

No contract asscts and liabilitics have been recognised in the balance sheet of the Group. Its impact, if any, was
decmed immaterial. The performed analysis has concluded that the right of payment of the goods and services sold
by the Group is unconditional, except for the passage of time. Therefore. all rights of payment have been booked as
trade receivables.

No assels refated Lo costs to obtain or fulfil a contract have heen recognised.
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3. Exceptional items

Exceptional cost of sales

The Group has recogniscd an exceptional impairment charge of €223,585,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022,
in relation to the tangible Naed assels. The recenlt trading performance of the O&F UK business has been challenging
in the midst of market volatility thal has seen very high nawral gas prices. Consequently, operating rales have
remained constrained. On 5 April 2022, due (0 escalating costs of the ncw energy project, the directors took the
decision to temporarily suspend the project. At the date of signing the financial statements the length of the subsequent
delay and the impact to the ultimate operatienal date of the plant is unknown. The business valuation was negalively
impacted by lower than expected cash flows within the current business plan, reflecting the challenging economic and
competitive conditions expected in the ncar term for the site. The impairment loss was based on a value in usc
calculation.

4. Operating (loss)/profit

Inciuded in operating (loss)/profit arc the following:

2022 2021
€000 €000
Expenscs relating to shorl-term leases 2,281 1,421
Expenses relating to leases of low-valuc asscts 37 12
Income from sub-leasing of nght-of-use assets (510) (383)
Government granis (Note 24) (836) (881)
Exchange loss 1,557 1,585
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9} 395 0
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
Owned asscts (Note 1) 65,725 63,701
Impairment of owned assets {Note 10} 223,585
Right-of-use ussets (Note 10) 1,577 1.005
Auditor's remuneration:
2022 2021
€000 €00t}
Audit of these financial statements 339 58
Amounis receivable by auditor's and their associates in respect ol
Audit of financial statements of subsidiarics pursuant to legislation 20 203
3359 261

—— P
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5. Staff numbers and costs

The monthly average number of persons employed by the Group (including dircctors) during the year, analysed by
category. was as follows:

Number of employees

2022 2021
Distribution i6 15
Sales and marketing 3 4
Administration 297 322
Opcrations 288 288
Maintenance 86 &5
690 714
The aggrepate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:
2022 2021
€000 €000
Wages and salarics 46,052 58,011
Social security costs 5,546 5,170
Other pension costs - defined benefit plan (Note 14) 677 836
Orher pension costs - defined contribution plan (Note /4) 3,704 3,77
55,979 67.808
6. Directors’ remuneration
2022 2021
€000 €000
Short-term employee benefits
Directors’ emoluments 1,003 666
Social sccurity costs 88 46
1,091 712

The aggregate of emoluments and amounts receivable under long-lerm incentive schemes of the highest paid director
was €519,000 (2021 €344,000).

Number of directors

2022 2021

Retirement benefits are aceruing to the following number of directors under:
Defined benefit schemes 1
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7. Finance income and costs

Recognised in the consolidated incame statement

2022 2021

€000 £000
Finance income
Bank intercst 290 22
Other interest receivable 4 1
[nterest inceme on related parties 3 -
Net interest tncome on pension schemes (Nore 14) 1,721 426
Net exchange movements . 14
Total finance income 2,018 363
Finance costs
Interest payable o related parties 17,912 11,409
Amortisation of issuc costs 1,828 2,754
Interest on lease liabilities 522 407
Otker finance charges 825 749
Interest on Senior Sceured Term Loans 9577 8714
Net exchange movements 1,451 -
Borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant and equipment (Nule 10) (2,152) (3,785)
Total finance cosis 29,963 18,248
Net finance cost 27,945 17,685

Borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant and equipment relate to construction of the new cnergy plant in
Grangemouth Energy Company Limiled at 5.53% (2021 5.53%). No borrowing costs have been capitalised following
the decision to pause the project in April 2022.
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8. Tax credit

Taxatior recognised in the consolidated income statement 2022 2021
€000 €000
Current tax (credit)/charge
Current tax on {Joss)/profit for the year (20,273 (10,468)
Adjusiments in respect of prior years 5,446 13,202
Total current tax (credit)/charge {14,827 2,734 !
Deferred tax (credit)/charge
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (23,188) 17,257
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1,884 (24.488)
Deferred tax credit (Note 12) £21,304) (7,231)
Total tax credit (36,131 (4,497)
Recanciliation of effective tax rate
2022 2021
€000 €000
(Lwss)/profit before taxation (297,930) 10,140
Tax using the UK corporation wax rate of 19.00% (2021:19.00%) (56,607) 1,927 '
Non-deductible cxpenses/lax exempt revenues 18,711 720
Difference in tax rate (5,565) 4,142
Adjustments in respecl ol prior years 7,330 (11,286) .
Total tax credit (36,131) (4,497) I
Taxation recognised in other comprehensive income/(expense)
2022 2021
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Translation differences (41,800) 4521 37,279) 57,534 (4,7313 52.803
Remcasurements of post
employment benefit plan (86,001) 20,943 {65,058) 59,018 {11.292 47,726
Total (127,801) 25,464 (102,337) 116,552 {16,023) 100,529

————
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8. Tax credit (continued)

The Finance Bill 2021 which incrcased the rate of corporation tax to 25% on profits over £250,000 from April 2023
was substantively cnacted on 24 May 2021, As a result, deferred taxed in the United Kingdom at 31 December 2022

are measured at 25%.

9. Intangible assets

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2021

Additions

Disposals

Effect of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 December 2021
Addiuons

Disposals
Effect of mevements in foreign exchange

Balance as at 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2021
Amortisation for the year

Balance at 31 December 2021

Amortisation Charge
Effect of movements in foreign exchange

Ralance as at 31 December 2022
Net book value

At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2022

Amortisation

The amortisation charge is recognised in administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Environmental Licence

Certificates Fees Total
€000 €000 €000
21,554 1,776 33330
(17,858) (17,854)
[u/ 51 158
3,803 1,827 5,630
14,523 380 14,903
(7,434) - (7,434)
(253) 7N (350)
10,639 2,110 12,749

- (A0 (30

- (30) (30)

- (395) (395)

. 4 4

- (421) {421)

3,803 1,797 5,600
10,639 1,689 12,328
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and  Assets under Right-of-use

buildings  machinery construction assets Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Casi
Balance at ! January 2021 21,602 1,352,788 250,857 10,793 1,636,042
Additions - - 175,593 3,373 178,966
Reclassifications - 5,136 18 (1,297 3.957
Disposals - - - {1,023) (1,023)
Transfers - 88,133 (88,433) - -
Effect of movements 1n foreign exchange 1,651 106,128 21.457 829 130,065
Balance at 31 December 2621 23,253 1,552,485 359,592 12677 1,94%,007
Additions - - 170,856 9511 180,367
Reclassifications - 3,932 - - 3.932
Dispasals - - - (237) (237}
Transfers - 24,49 (24,494) - .
Effect aof mavements in toreign exchange (1,190} (80,527} (21,819 (977} (104,513}
Balance at 31 December 2022 22,063 1,500,384 484,135 20,974 2,027,556
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at | January 2021 (5.945) (B64,272) . (2,462} (872.679)
Depreciation charge for the year (1,073) (62,628) - {1,005) (64,706)
Reclassifications - (3,539) - 733 (2.806)
Drisposals - - - 1026 1,020
Eftect of movements in foreign exchange (454) (68,007) B (152) (68.613)
Balance at 31 December 2021 (7,472) (998 ,446) - (1,8606) (1,007,784}
Depreciation charge for the year (674) (65,051) - (1L,577) (67,302)
Exceptional impairment charge for the year (3,236) (110,596) (109,753) - (223,585)
Reclassifications - (1,270) - - (1,270
Disposals - - - 197 197
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 482 56,318 2,716 130 59,646
Balance at 31 December 2022 (10,900)  (1,119,045) (107,037) (3,116) (1,240,098,
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 15,781 554,039 359,592 10,811 940,223
At 31 December 2022 11,163 381,339 377,098 17,858 787.458

Capitalised berrowing costs

Included in the additions are amounts capitalised for borrowing costs relating to construction of plant and equipment
of €2,152,000(202{: ©.785,000) culculated using the elfective rates of interest applicable to each source of finance
{see Note 7). No borrowing costs have been capitalised following the decision W pause the project in April 2022,
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10. Property, plant and equipment {(continued)

The exceptional impairment charge of €223,585,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 reflects the impairment of
the tangible fixed assets relating to O&P UK business located at the Grangemeuth site (see note 3).

The fixed assct impairment assessmenl is hased on the value in use model which is using three year plan then into
perpetuity based on the life of the assets (sce note 26).  The value in use calculaton considers natural gas price
forccast and varicus other assumpltions at the balance sheet datc. The impact of high natural gas prices experienced in
the sccond hali of 2022, general market volatility and delays around the new energy project ("NEP™), there is stiil
some significant risk and volatility around future profitability performance.

The longer-lerm lorecasts have been prepared using the latest commercial and business assumpltions, which arc as
follows:
*  Weighted average cost of capital (“WACC™) has changed from 8.5% to 11.25% becausc of the rising inlerest
ratc cnvirenment;
®  Growth raie of 3%;
*  Assct lite of 4¢ years; and
®  Terminal value of 35 years.

The key sensitivities that could affect the impairment asscssment arc detailed below:

Discount rate 1% ingcrease €99 million incrcase w0 impairment
Discount rate 1% decrcase €120 million reduction o impairment
Growth rate 1% decrcase €73 million increase L0 impairment
Asset life I year reduction €5 million increase to impairment
TAR overrun probability Low 10% to Med 50% €99 million increase to impairment
Natural gas price 10 ppt increase €79 million increasce to impairment
Natural gas price 10 ppt decrease €79 million decrease to impairment
Security

All assets included within property, plant and equipment form sccurity against the Senior term and Revolving
Facilities agreement (2024 : all asseis) as described in Note 17,
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The Group leases asscts including land, plant and machinery and transportation assets which are classified as right-
of-use assets,
Land and Plant and

buildings machinery Total
€000 £000 €000

Cost
Balance at | January 2021 7,366 3,229 10,795
Additions 2,844 529 3,373
Disposals - {1,023} (1,023
Reclassifications - (1,297) (1,297
Effect of movements in foreign cxchange 660 169 829
Ralance at 31 December 2021 11,070 1,607 12,677
Additions 8,519 992 9,511
Disposals - 237) (237)
Effcct of movements in foreign exchange (884) (93) {977)
Balance at 31 December 2022 18,708 2,269 20,974
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 Fanuary 2021 (373) (1,889) (2.462)
Depreciation charge for the year (414) (591 £1.003)
Disposals - 1,020 1,020
Reclassifications - 733 733
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (56) (96) (152)
Balance at 31 December 2021 (1.043) (823) (1.866)
Depreciation charge for the year (1,027 (530) (1,577)
Disposals - 197 197
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 92 38 130
Balance at 31 December 2022 (1,978) (1,138) (3,116}
Net hook value
Al 31 December 2021 10,027 784 10,811
At 31 December 2022 16,727 1,131 17858
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11. Investments in subsidiary undertakings

The Company has the following invesiments in subsidiarics:

Crwnership
Address of the registered

Name office Class of shares held 2022 2021

INEQS Commercial Services UK Limiled ** Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Ordinary 100% 100%
, ) . Lyndhurst, Hampshire,

[Company Registration Number 07445497] England. SO43 7FG

INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited ** Hawkslease, Chapel f.ane, Ordinary 100% 100%
. . . Lyndhurst, Hampshire,

[Company Registration Number 06981897 England, SO43 TFG

Grangemouth Energy Company Limited Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Ordinary 70.4% 70.4%
. . Lyndhurst, H: hire,

[Company Registration Number 11384522] Higland, SO:;“.}E};G] ¢

** A udit exemption
The subsidiary undertakings which have been consolidated in these financial statements and have claimed exemption

from audit under section 479A Companics Act 2000.

INEOS Grangemouth [imited holds 100% of the issued I ordinary sharc capital in Grangemouth Energy Company
Limited. Grangemouth Energy Company Limiitcd has also issued P ordinary shares and non-voting ordinary shares
which are not held by INEOS Grangemouth Limited.

INEQOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited is a “Toll Manufacturer”, INEOS Commercial Services UK Limited is an

“Entreprencur”, Grangemouth Energy Company Limited is constructing a new energy plant on the Grangemouth site,
although the expected operational date is not yet known. All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation.
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12. Deferred tax assets

Recognised deferred tax assets

Delerred tax assets arc attributable to the foltowing:

2022
Assets Liabilities Total
€000 €000 €000
Property, plant and equipment 25291 - 25,291
Emplayee benefits - 871 {873}
Tax value ot losses carried forward 20,512 - 20,512
Short tern timing differences 157 - 157
Tax assets 45,960 {873) 43,087
2024
Assets Liabilities Tolal
€000 €000 €000
Property, plant and equipment 3,917 - 3,017
Employce benefils - (22.174) (22.174)
Tax value of losses carried forward 20,856 - 20,856
Short term timing differences 40 (99) (39
Tax assets 24813 (22.273) 2.540
Meoavement in deferred tax during the year
Short term
Property, plant Employec timing
and equipment Losses benefits differences Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Al ! January 202] (4,134 15,488 (4,647) 132 6,839
Recogaised in consolidated income
staterment 8.370 5.005 (5,944) 12003 7,231
Recognised in other comprehensive
income . - (11,292) - (11,292)
Effects of movement in foreign
exchange (319 363 (291) 9 (238)
AL 31 December 2021 3,917 20,856 (22,174) (59) 2,540
Recognised in consolidated income
statement 21,565 - {485) 224 21,304
Recognised in other comprehensive
income - - 20,943 - 20,943
Effects of movement in foreign
exchange (191) (344) 843 (8} 300
At 31 December 2022 25,291 20,512 873) 157 45,087
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12. Deferred tax assets (continued)

Decferred tax asseis have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to
deferred lax assets where the dircctors believe 1t is probable that these assets will be recovered based upon business
forecasts.

Any deferred laa capected W reverse aller 1 April 2022 has been remeasured using the ratcs substantively cnacted at
31 December 2022, The rate of deferred tax applied at 31 December 2022 is 25% (2027 25%).

13. Trade and other receivables

2022 2021
€000 €000
Corrent

Trade receivables 22,591 54,456
Amounts due from related parties [Note 24} 196,233 187,237
Prepayments 8,181 3,558
Accrued incomge 2,206 8,630
229,211 253,881

Non-current
Accrued incomc 23,616 17,412
Other operating dchtors %9 184
23,705 17,596

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting year was:

2022
Amounts due from
Trade receivahles related partics

Gross  Impairment Gross  Impairment

€000 €000 €000 €000
Not past due 21,963 - 196,233
Past duc 0-30 days 628 - .
Past due 31-90 days . - .
More than 90 days . . .

22,591 - 196,233
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13. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Credit quality of financial assefs and impairment losses {conrinued)

2021
Amounts due from
Trade receivables related partics
(iross Impairment Gross Impairment
€000 €000 €000 €000
Nolt past due 54,425 187,237
Past due (0-30 days 19 .
Past duc 31-90 days - .
More than 90 days 898 (886)
55,342 (BR6) 187,237

The accounts receivable not yet duc after impairment losses as of the end of the reporting year are deemed to be
collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular analyses of the credit worthiness
of our customers and exlcrnal credit checks where appropriate for new customers {Note 2/ .¢j. As at 31 December
2021 and 2022 there was no significant trade, related party or other receivable balances not past due that were

subsequently impaired.

The concentration: of credit risk for trade receivables and amounts due [rom related parties at the balance sheet date

by geographic region was:

Geographic region
UK

Rest of Europe
Amcricas

Rest of the World

2022 2021
€000 €0UD
180,910 162523
36,728 71978
1,027 1192
159 .
218,824 241,693

The concentration of credit risk for tradc receivables and amounts due from related partics ai the balance sheet date

by type of counterparty was:

Type of counterparty
Qil, gas and chemicals
Transport

Oiher

2022 2021
€000 €000
213,044 231,719
162 708
5,618 9,266
218,824 241 693

Al assets included within trade reccivables form security against the Senior Term and Revolving Facilities agreement

(2021 all assets) as described in Note 17.
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13. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Movement in the allowance for impairment:
Trade
receivables
€000

Balance at 1 January 2021 (823)
Exchange (63)
Batance at 31 December 2021 {886)
Allowance released in the year 886

Balance at 31 December 2022 -

The atlowance account for trade receivables is used to record any impairment unless the Group is satisficd that no
recovery of the amount owing is probable; at the point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off against
the trade receivables dircctly. The Group applies the forward-looking ‘expected credit loss™ (ECL) model in line with
IFRS 9 in asscssing the recoverability of wrade receivables, The ECL is calculated considering past cxpericuces and
managcment’s estimate of fulure developments. Management expects no considerable change in the [uture market
situation. Consequently, the future credit losses in the ECL model are in the same range as the credil losses experienced
in the past years. This is rcgarded as the future cxpectation of the inherent credit risk of the not impaired trade and
other receivables outstanding. The Group reviews the assumptions of the ECI. madel on a yearly basis,

Credit risk of irade receivables

2022 2021
€000 €000
Low 22,591 54,444
Medium - -
High . 98
Impairment allowance - (886)
22,591 54,456

During the year the Group has not experienced a significant deterioration in the quality of receivable balances due to
the current economic conditions.

There were no allowances made against other receivables during the year (20271 €ril).

There were no allowances made against amounts due {rom related partics during the year {2027 €nil).
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14. Employee benefits

Pension Plan

The Group operates a defined benefit plan for certain employees, The defined benefit pension pian was historically
final salary in naturc, with a normal retirement age of 60. The plan is now ciosed to new entrants and frozen to future
accrual. The contributions paid to the scheme is set every three years based on a [unding agreement between the
Group and Trustees aller Laking actuarial advice. The plan operates under trust law and are managed and administered
by Trustees in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Rules and relevant legislation. The asscts of the pian
arc held separately from thosc of the Group.

The most recent full valuation of the significant defined benefit plan way carried out on 31 December 2020. These
valuations have becen updated where appropriate to 31 December 2022 by independent gualified actuarics.
Pension pian assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages or ranges) al the year end were as follows:

2022 2021
% b2l

Major assumptions:
Rate of incrcase (o pension in payments 0 3.0-50
Discount rate (or schernc habilities 5.0 1.9
Inflation (RPY) 3.2 3.2

The assumplions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the reporting date are based on standard
actuarial mortality tables and inciude an allowance for future improvements in longevily. The assumptions are
equivalent to expecting a 65-ycar old to live for a number of years as foliows:

2022 2021
Years Years
Longevily at age 65 for current pensioners 243 224

Sensitivity analysis

The following table prescnts the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to each significant actuarial assumption:

2022 2021

o %

Discount rate: 1.0% decrease 19.14 2592
Rate of intlation: 0.5% increasc 6.36 792
| year increase in longevily for a member curtently aged 65 1.97 3.46

The sensitivity to the inflalion assumption change includes corresponding changes to the future salary increase and
future pension increase assumptions where the assumptions are sel (0 be linked to the inflation assumption.
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14. Employee benefits (continued)

The calculation of the defined bencfit obligation is sensitive (o the assumptions sct out above. The following tablc
summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting year would have
increascd/(decrcased) as a tesull ol a change in (he respective assumptions by 1%.

2022 2021
€000 €000
Discounl rate 63,924 154,958
Inflation (RPI, CPI) 21,233 47,328

Pension plan assumptions

[n valuing the liabililies of the pension fund at €333,935,000 202/ €597,828,000), mortality assurnptions have been
made as indicated above. If life expectancy had been changed to assume that all members of the fund lived for ene
year longer, the valuc of the reported liabilities would be €340,523,000 (2027 €618 510,000} having increased by
€06,588,000 ¢2021. €20,682,000) beforc deferred tax.

The above sensitivitics are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at Lthe date of the last
full actuarial valuation at 31 December 2020 and are applicd to adjust the delined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting year for the assumptions concerncd. Whilst the analysis does not take account of the full distribution ef cash
fTows expected under the plan, it docs provide an approximation to the sensitivily of the assumplions shown.

History of plan

The history of the plan for the current and prior years is as follows:

Consolidated Bolance Sheet

2022 202t
€000 €000
Presenl value of the defined benefit obligation in respect of the pension plan 333,935 597,828
Fair value of plan asscts (337,427) (686,525)
Surplus (3,492) (88.697)
The Group’s net assct in respect of deflined benefit obligations is as follows:
2022 2021
€000 €000
Net asset for defined benefit obligations in the United Kingdom (3,492) (88.697)

The Group cxapects to contribute approximately €488,000 (2021 €5,523,000) (o its funded dcfined bencfit plan in the
next tinancial year.
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14. Employee benefits (continued)

Consolidated Income Statement

2022 2021

€000 €000

Currenl service cost 677 856
Intercst cost on defined benefit obligation 10,993 9,329
Interest income on plan assets (12,714) (9,755)
(1,044) 430

The (income)/expense is recognised in the following line items in the consolidated income statement:

2022 2021

€000 €000

Cost of sales 677 H56
Finance income (1,721) (426)

(1,044) 430

Pension Plans

2022 2021

€060 €000

Present value of funded obligations 333,935 597828
Fair value of plan assets (337,427 {686,525)

(3,492) (88,697)
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14. Employee benefits (continued)

Movements in present valuc of defined benefit obligation:

Total
€000
On | January 2021 567,996
Current service cost 856
Interest cost on defincd benefit obligation 9,329
Remeasurements:
Actuarial gain - cxperience (2.824)
Actuarial gain — demographic assumptions {1,095)
Acluarial loss — financial assumptions 1,904
Disbursements from plan assets (21,482)
Excliange 43054
At 31 December 2021 597,828
Current service cost 677
Interest cost on detined benefit obligation 10,993
Rcmcasursmenls:
Actuarial luss - expericnce 40,816
Actuarial loss — demographic assumptions 6,932
Actuarial gain — financial assutnptions (280,654)
Disbursements from plan assets {21,103)
Exchange {21,554)
At 3t December 2022 333935
P
Movements in fair value of plan assets:
Total
€000
On I January 2021 592,458
Interest incurme oa plan asscts 9,755
Remeasurcments;
Retum on plan assets less than discount rate 57,093
Employer contributions 2.041
Disbursements (21,482)
Exchange 46,660
At 31 December 2021 686,525
Interest income on plan assets 12,714
Remeasurements:
Retwrn on plan asscts greater than discount rate (318,907
Employer contributions 1,163
Disburscments (21,103)
Exchange (22,965)
At 31 December 2022 337,427
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14. Employee benefits (continued)

The fair valuc of the plan asseis were as follows:

2022 2021

€000 €000
As at 31 December
Cash and cash equivalents 14,646 62,701
Equities 88,943 237,332
Bonds 173,363 302911
Property 51,319 69,126
Other 9,156 14,456
Total plan assets 337,427 686,525

All the investments in plan assets except property are quoted. The plan does not hold investments in the Group's own
financial instruments, or hold assets or property which are used by the Group.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Group operales a number of defined contribution pension plans. The total expenses relating to these plans in the
current year were €3,704,000 (2621 €3,771,000).

15, Inventories

2022 2021

€000 €000

Raw materials and consumablces 16,780 8,162
Process chemicals 18,688 20,537
Finjshed goods and goods for resale 50,900 65,382
86,368 94,081t

Raw materials, consumables and changes in finished goods and work in progress recognised as cost of sales in the
year amounted to €725,777,000 (2021 €466,983,000). The writc-down of stocks to net realisable value amounted to
€nil (2021: €3,117,000). The reversal of write-downs amounted (o €726,000 (2021, €hil).

Security

All assets included wilhin the inventories form securitly against the Senior term and Revolving Facilitics agreement
{2021 all assets) as described in Note 17.
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16. Share capital

2022 2021
€000 €000
Authorised, allotted, callid up and lully pald
57,100 (2021 : 57,100) ordinary sharcs of €1 each 57 57
Number of shares Ordinary shares
On issue at | January and 31 December 2022 - fully paid 57,100

The holders are cntitled to reccive dividends as declared from time to time and arc entitled to one vote per sharc at
meetings of the Company.

Dividends
A dividend has not been paid or declared in the year (2021 €hil).

17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The note provides information aboul the contractual terms of the Group’s intcrest-bearing loans and borrowings, which
arc measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure Lo interest rate and foreign currency
risk, refer 1o Noie 21.

2022 2021
€000 €000
Non-current liabilities
Loan from related partics 298,123 143,762
Senior Sccured Term Loans duc 2023 - 305.000
Gross borrowings 298,123 448,762
Less: unamortised finance costs - (3,5960)
298,123 444,796
Current liabilities
Loan from related partics 73,064 72,891
Senior Secured Term Loans 305,000 .
Less: unamorhsed finance costs (2,152) B
375,192 72,891
Net borrowings 674,035 517,687
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17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Gruss debt and issue costs

2022
Gross loans Net loans
and and
borrowings Issue costs borrowings
€000 €000 €000
Loans from related parties 371,187 - 371,187
Senior Secured Term Loars due 2025 305,000 {2,152) 302,848
676,187 (2,152) 674,035
2021
Gross loans Net loans
and and
bomowings Issue casts borrowings
€000 €000 €000
Loan from related partics 216,653 - 216,653
Senior Secured Term Loans due 2025 305,000 (3,966) 301,034
521,653 {3,966) 517,687
Terms and debt repayment schedute
Norminal Interest Year of
Currency rate maturity
Loan due to related parties £ 5.53% 2043
Loan due to related parties € T% 2025
Seniocr sccured Term Loans due 2025 € 2.25%-3.25% 2025

Senior Secured Term Loans due 2025

On 14 June 2019, INEOS Grangemouth Limited cntered into a 3 year €350,000,000 Senior Term and Revolving
Facilitics agreement (“the Agreement™) with, inter alia, Lloyds Bank PLC as Administrative Agent, Lloyds Bank PL.C
as Security Agemt and BNP Paribas, London Branch, Lloyds Bank PLC and National Westminster Bank PLC as
Global Coordinators, Subsequently on 23 July 2020, the agrecment was extended to June 2025,

Under the terms of the Agreement, on 31 July 2019, INEOS Grangemouth Limited fully drew down the £200,000,000
Term loan. As at 31 December 2022 €105,000,000 (2021 €105,000,000) of the €150,000,000 Revolving Facility
Loan had been drawn down. On 10 January 2023, the loans were repaid in full, facilitated by a loan from the parent
company INEOS Industries Holdings Limilted so theyhave been classified as a current liability as at 31 December
2022.

The Agreement has a variable interest rate between 2.25%-3.25% per annum depending on the leverage of INEOS
Grangemouth Limited and its subsidiaries which is payable in arrears on the last day of each six month interest period.
As at 31 December 2022 the Agreement bore interest at 3.25% (2021 2.5%).
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17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Senior Secured Term Loans due 2025 (continited)

INEOS Grangemouth limited and its subsidiarics guarantee the obligations under the Senior Secured Term I.oans.
The Credit Agreement contains a number ot operating and financial covenants including limitations on indcbtedness.
restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

As referenced carlier, the Group encountered various challenges during the year such as the effects of high inflation
and the Ukraine war, which had a profound impact on the business due to the Group's high steam and power demand,
resulting in significant exposure to natural gas prices. Accordingly, the Group requested and was granted consent (o
waive the leverage financial covenant at both 30 May 2022 and 22 Scplember 2022, The leverage covenant at 31
December 2022 was remediated post year end via the full repayment of the Scnior Termi and Revolving Loan Facilities
on 10 January 2023,

Loans from related parties

The Group has a €250,000,000 multi-currency term loan facilily from INEQOS Industries Holdings L.imited, which
matures on 3] December 2025 and carrics an interest rate of 7%, As at 31 December 2022 €204,498,000 (2021
€99,644,000) has been drawn down. The lacility is secured by sccond ranking liens against all assets of the Group.

The Group has a £95,844,800 sharcholder loan facility from Petroincos Refining Limited, which matures in 2043 and
carries an interesl ratc of 5.53%. As at 31 December 2022 £64,654,000 (2021 £61,199.000) has been drawn down.
The facility is for exclusive use on construction cosls of the new power plant. On 30 December 2021, Petroincos
Refining Limited gave notice to stop investing in the energy project and requested early repayment of the loan in line
with the contractual terms. As a result, the loan has been reclassified to current liabilities on the balance sheet at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2022.

The Group has a £108,473,000 sub-participation agreement with INEOS FPS Limited for the funding of the new
power plant at Grangemeuth, INEQS FPS Limited will fund 33.5% of the total construction cost, this agreement
matures in 2043 and carries an inlerest rate of 5.53%. As at 31 December 2022 £82 848,000 (2627 £37,041,0(K)) has

been drawn down.

Qualifying interest is capitaliscd as part of the construction of plant and machinery.

18. Lease obligations

2022 2021
€000 €000
Analysed as:
Current lease liabilitics 4,781 885
Non-current lease liabililics 12,764 10,321
17,545 11,206
2022 2021
€000 €000
Muturity analvsis- contractial undiscounted cash flows:
Less than one year 5435 1,252
Between one and five yeuars 6,987 3,664
More than five ycars 9,489 10,889
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 21,911 15,805
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18. Lease obligations (continued)

2022 2021

€000 €000
Amounts recognised in the siatement of cash flows:
Lease capital paymen(s 2,014 721
Lease inierest payments 505 418
Short-term leases 2,281 1,42])
Leases of low value assets 37 12
Total cash outflow for leases 4,837 2,572

The Group Icases assets including land, buildings and transportation, the typical life of the leases vary between 1 1o
29 years.

19. Trade and other payables

2022 2021
€000 €000
Current
Trade payables 28,978 10,145
Amounts due to relaled parties (Note 24 133,537 129,949
Acctyals 61,057 124,059
Deferred income (Nore 20} 1,074 4,149
224,646 268,302
—————

Non-current

Amounts due to related panies (Note 24 - 10,360
Accruals 136 1,651
Deferred income (Note 207) 16,565 [3,785

16,701 25,726
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20. Government grants

2022 2021

€0no €000

Current 836 881
Non-current 12,177 13,715
13,013 14,596

Govermment grans are included within deferred income (Note 19} The grants are Regional Selective Assistance
Scotland Scheme grants reccived by the Group. The income on these grants is released to the income statement in
line with the life of the underlying fixed assets that these grants were received in relation to.

21. Financial instruments

21. a) Fair values of financial instruments

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables gencrally approximates to fair value due to their short maturities.
Where seulcment is not due in the short term and where the effect is material, fair value is cstimated as the present
value of futurc cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

The carrying amount of trade and other payables generally approximates to fair value due to short maturitics. Where
seltlement is not duc in Lhe short term and where the effect is material, fair value is estimated as the present value of
future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.,

Cash and cash equivalents

The fair valuc of cash and cash equivalents is eslirated as its carrying amount where the cash is repayable on demand.
Where it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the present value of [uture cash flows,
discounted at thc market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and intercst cash flows, discounted at the market
rate of intercst at the balance sheet date. The fair valuc of the related parties’ loans is the same as the carrying value.
The loan due to third parties at 31 December 2022 is in the form of Scnior Secured Term Loan, the difference between
any fair value carrying value being unamortised debt issue costs,
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21. a) Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Fair values

31 December 2022

The fair values of cach class of financial assets and linancial liabilities together with their carrying amounts shown in

the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

2022
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amaunt
€000 €000 €000
Financial assets held at amortised cost
Trade receivahles 22,591 22,591 54,456
Amounts duc from relaled parties 196,233 196,233 187,237
Cash and cash equivalents 42,328 42,328 82,955
Total financial assets 261,152 261,152 324,648
———xxg

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost:
Trade payables (28,978) (28,978) (10,145)
Amounts due to refated parties (133,537 (133,537) (140,309)
Loan due to related partics (371,187 (371,187) (216.653)
Loan due 1o third parties (302,8438) (305,000) (301,034)
Lease liabilities (17,548) {17,545) (11,206)
Total financial liabilities (854,095) (856,247) (679,347)

2021

Fair valuc
€000

54,456
187,237
82955

(10,145
(140,309}
(216.,653)
(305,000)

(11,206

(683,313)
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

21. b} Net gains and losses from financial instruments

INeL gaing ana losses lrom hinancial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the amortisation of discounts, and
recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the translation ol foreign currencies, interest,
dividends and all effects on profit or toss of financial instruments.

Net gains from financial assets mecasured at amortised cost relate primarily (0 recognition and derecognition of
impairment losscs, results from the translation of foreign currencies and interest income.

Net losses from financial liabilitics measures at amortised cost rclate primarily to amortisation of discounts, results
from the translation of foreign currencies, inlerest expense and other financing related expensecs.

The item ‘financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss’ comprise valuations gains and losses, and only
includes gains and losses from instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9.

The following table shows the gross gains and losses during the year and on which financial instruments they arose:

Assets measured at
amortised cosl

2022 2021
€000 €000
Financing income 297 23
Net foreign exchange gain - 14
Net resul¢ 297 137
Carrying value at 31 December 261,152 324,648

Liabilities measured at
amortised cost

2022 2021

€000 £000
Finance cost (18,110) {8,785)
Other finance cost (10,402) {9,463)
Net foreign exchange losses (1451) :
Net result (29,963) (18,248)
Carrying value at 31 December (854,095) (679,347)

There arc no financial assets at {air value either through profit and loss or other comprehensive income.
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

21. ¢) Credit risk

Financial risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss 10 the Group if a customer or counterparly to a tinancial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s reccivables from customers and deposits with
tinancial insticutions,

Group Treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk is to minimise the likelihood that the Group will
experience financial loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a single loss, the failure of any
single counterparty would not materially impact the financial wellbcing of the Group.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However,
managcment also considers the demographics of the Group's customer base, including the default risk of the industry
and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. Management considers
that there is no geographical concentration of credit tisk. The Group has established a credit policy under which cach
ncw customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms
and conditions arc offcred or are adjusted accordingly. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when available,
and in some cases bank references. Purchasc limits arc established for each customer, which represent the maximum
open amount without requiring approval. Customers that fail to mecet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may
transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis.

Investments, cash and cash equivalenis

Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relationship.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets. Further details on the Group’s exposure
Lo credit risk are given in Note 13.
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21. Financial instraments (continued)

21. d) Liquidity risk

Financial risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able 10 mect its financial obligations as they fall duc. The Group's
approach 1o managing liquidity is to cnsure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
hiabilitics when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
to the Group.

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expecied cash tlows that will occur on a weekly and monthly basis. This
information is used in conjunction with the weckly rcporting of actual cash balances at bank in order to calculate the
level of funding that will be required in the short and medium term. On a monthly basis the level of headroom on
existing facilities is rcported and forecast forward until the end of the financial ycar.

Refer to Note 17 for detailed information and loan covenants on each of the loans.

The maturity profile of the Group's undrawn commitled facilities at 31 December 2022 and 202! was as follows:

2022 2021
Undrawn Undrawn
facilities facilities
€000 €000

In one year (80,248)
[n more than one ycar. but not meore than two years - -
In morte than two years, but not more than live years (38,234) (45,000)
In more than {ive vears - (89,258)

(118,482) (134,258}

The following are the contractual maturitics of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and
excluding the effect of neting agreements:

2022
Carrying  Contractual 5 years and

amount cash flows 1 yearorless 1 to<2years 2to<S5 years over
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Non derivative financial

liabilities

Trade payables (28.978) (28,978) (28,978) - - -
Amounis due to related parties (133,537) (133,537) (133,537) - - -
Loan due to related parties (371,187 (486,519) (78,521) (7,874) (275,450) (124,674)
Loan duc 1o third parties (302,848) (309,339) (309,339) - - -
Lease liabilities (17,545) (21,911} {5,435) (4,202) (2,785) (9,489)
(854,095) (980,284) (555,810) (12,076) (278,235) {134,163)
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21. Financial instruments {continued)

21, d) Liguidity risk (continued)

2021
Carrying Contractual 5 years and
amount cash flows | yearorless [ to<2 years 210 <5 years over
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Non derivative financial
liabilities
Trade payables (16,145) (10,145} {10,145) .
Amounts due 1o related parties {140,309y (140,309 (129.549) (10,3600 - -
Loan due to rclated parties (216.653) (283.651) (77,025 - (143.414) (63212)
1.oan due 1o third parties (301,034) (335,500) (7,623) (7.625) (320,230) -
Lease liabilities (11,206) {15,805) (1,252) (1.073) (2,591} (10.889
(679,347 (785,410) (225,996} (19,058) (466.255) {74,101}

21. ¢) Market risk

Financial risk managemen:

Market risk reflects the possibility that changes in market prices, such as crude oil, feedstock refined products.
chemicals or currency exchanges rates or changes in intercst rates will adverscly affect the value of the Group's assets,
liabilities or expected future cash flows.

i. Market risk — foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposcd to forcign exchange risk arising from various currency cxposures,
primarily with respect 1o the US Dollar and Sterling.

Foreign cxchange risk arises from fulure comimercial transactions, and recognised asscts and iabilitics.

A substantia} portion of the Group’s revenue is generated in, or linked to, Sterling and the Euro. Product prices, certain
feedstock costs and most other costs arc denominated in US Dollar, Sterling and Euro.

The Greup does not enter into {areign currency exchange instruments to hedge foreign currency lransaction exposurce,
although the Group may do so in the future.
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

21. e) Market risk (continued)

i. Market risk — foreign currency risk (continned)

The foreign currency exposure where the Group's financial assets/(liabilities) are not denominated in the functional
currency ol the operating unit involved is shown below. Foreign exchange differcnces on retranslation of these assels
and liabilities are taken to the income statement / other comprehensive income of the Group.

2022 202l

€000 €000

Euros 4,002 9,023
US dollars 91,362 (43,766)
Sterling 21,366 664,283
Other (2,086) (250}
114,644 629,290

Sensitivity analvsis

A 10% weakening of the following currencies al 31 December would have decreased equity and protit by the amounts
shown below. This calculation assumes thal the change occurred at the reporting date and had been appiied to risk
exposurcs cxisting at that date,

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative year,

Profit or loss

2022 2021

€000 €000

Euros 400 902
US doltars 9,136 (4.376)
Sterling 2,137 66,428
Gther (209 (25)
11,464 62,929

A 10% strengthening of the above currencies against the Euro at 31 December would have had the equal but epposite
effect on the above currcncies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

21. e) Market risk (continued)

i. Market risk — interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing {inancial instruments was:

2022 2021
€000 €000
Carrying amount of asset/(liability)
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 42,328 82,955
Financial liabilities {388,732) (227,839)

(346,404) (144,804)

Variable rate instruments
Financial liabilities (302,848) {3011,034)

(302,848) (301,034)

iti. Market risk — Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to commeadity price risk through fluctuations in raw material prices and sales of products. The
raw malerial cxposures result primarily from the price of feedstocks and base chemicals inked 1o the price of crude.
The sales price exposures are primarily relaled to petrochemicals where prices are in general linked to the market price
of crude oil.

The Group enlers inlo contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commodities at future dates during the
normal course of business that may be considered derivative contracts. Where such contracts exist and are in respect
of the normal purchase or sale of products Lo fulfil the Group’s requirements, the own use excmption from derivative
accounting is applied.

The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that risks, including those relating o the detault
of counterparties, arc minimised.

21. f) Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capilal are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for sharcholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group defines its capital cmployed of €953,656,000 (202/: €1.092,183,000) as sharcholders’ equity of
€321,949,000 (2021 €657,451,000) and nct debt (net of debl issue cost) of €631,707,000 (2021 €434,732,000).

The principal sources of debl available to the Group at 31 December 2022 includes the Senior Secured Term Loans
due 2025 and loans from related parties arc described in Note 17 along with the key operating and financial covenants
that apply to thesc facilities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid o sharcholders,
issue new shares, raisc ncw debt or scll assets (o reduce debt. The ability of the Group to pay dividends and provide
appropriate facilities o the Group is restricted by the terms of principal financing agreements to which members of
the Group are party.
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22. Capital commitments

Outstanding capital cxpenditure authorised on property, plant and equipment authorised by the Board and for which
contracts had been placed as at 31 December 2022 by the Group amounted to approximately €18,960,000 (2021
€50,312,000).

23. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2022 2021

€000 €000

(Decrease)}increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year (23,950) 55,065
Cash inflow {rom change in debt financing (142,903) (142,480)
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows (166,853) (87.415)
Other nct non-cash transactions (28,308) (29213
Movements in net debt in year (195,161) (116,628)

Non-cash

1 Jan 2022 Cash flow changes 31 Dec 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000

Cash at bank in hand 82,955 (23,950) {16,677) 42,328
82,955 (23,950) (16,677) 42,328
Debt due within one year (72,891) - (305,173} (378,064)
Debt due after more than one year (448,762) (142,903) 293,542 (298,122)

(521,653) (142.903) (11,631) {676,187)
(438,698) (166,853 (28,308) (633,859)

Non-cash

1 Jan 2021 Cash flow changes 31 Dee 2021

€000 €000 €000 €000

Cash at bank in hand 39,852 55,065 (11,962) 82,955
39,852 55,065 (11,962} 82955
Debt due wathin one year - . {72,891 (72,891)
Debt due after more than one year (361,922) (142.450) 55,640 (448,762)
(361,922 (142 480) 117251 (521,653
(322,070} (87.413) {29,213] (438,698)
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24. Related parties

Related party transactions
Related partics comprise:

= Parcnt entity, their subsidiaries, associates and joint venture not included within the INEQS Grangemouth
Limited Group;

*  Enfitics controlled by the shareholders of INEOS Limiled, the ullimate parent company of INEOS
Grangemouth Limited, including INEQS AG and INEOS Holdings Limited, entities with significant
influsnce; and

s Key managerial personnel.

Mr T A Rawliffe, Mr A C Curric and Mr J Recce are the shareholders of INEOS Limited. INEOS Limited provides
operational management services to the Group through a management service agreement. INEOS Limited
managemeny {ees of €35,485,000 (2021 : €5,7100,000) were charged to the income stalement during the year ended 31
December 2022,

AL 31 December 2022 amounts owed 1o INEOS Industries Holdings Limited relating to loans of €204,498.,000 (2021 -
€99, 644,000), and €9,854,000 (2021 €5,769,000) of intcrcst payable had been recorded.

At 31 December 2022 amounts owed to Petroincos Refining Limited relating 1o the GECQ loan wus €73.064,000
(202} €72.891,000; and €4 (056,006 (2021 €2,863,000}) of interest payable had been recorded.

At 3! December 2022 amounts owed to INEOS FPS Limited relating to loans of €93,625,000 (2021 4,1 18.000)
and €4,002,000 (2021 €1,777,000) of mterest payable had been recorded.

INEOS Limited owns and controls a number of operating subsidiaries and joint ventures that are not included in the
INEOS Grangemouth Limited group, including the INEOS Group Holdings S.A. group and other subsidiaries of the
INEOS Industries Limited group. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has made sales to these
subsidiarics, associates and joint ventures of €622.818,000 (2021 €459,044,000), recovered costs of €208,222,000
(2021 €206,220,000) and made purchases of €450,406,000 (202/: €567,526,000). Al 31 December 2022
£€196,233.000 (2021 €187,237,000) was owed by ihese subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and €133,537,000
(2021: €140,309,000) was owed 1o these subsidiarics, associates and joint ventures. All of the above transactions
were in the ordinary course of busincss.

Transactions with key management personnel (including directors)

The Group defincs key management as the directors of the Group. Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in
Note 6.
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25, Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The immediate parent undertaking at 31 December 2022 is INEOS Industrics Holdings Timited, a company
incorporated in England and Wales.
The ultimate parent nndertaking at 31 December 2022 wus INCOS Lunited, a company registered in the Isle of Man.

INEOS Industries Limited is the parent undertaking of the largest and smallest group of undertakings to consolidate
these financial statements. Copies of the financial statements of INEOS Industries Limited can be obtained from the
Company Secretary al the registered oftice: Hawkslease, Chapel Lanc, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, UK, S043 7FG.

The directors regard Mr J A Rateliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by virlue of s majority shareholding in the
ultimate parent undertaking INEOS Limited.

26. Accounting estimates and judgements

The Group prepares its consolidated flnancial statcments in accordance with IFRS's, which require management Lo
make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting policies, and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenscs. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The cstimates and
assumptions arc reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates change and in any fulure periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
The directors do not consider there to be any critical judgements, apart from those involving estimation, which are
presented scparately below.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the repotting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a matertal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the nex! financial year, arc discussed below,

Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a defincd benefit posi-employment scheme. Under 1AS 19 Revised Employce Benelils,
management is required to estimate the present valuc of the tuture defined benefit obligation of each defined benefit
scheme. The costs and year end obligations under the defined benelit scheme is determined using actuarial valuations.
The actuarial valuations involve making numcrous assumptions, including:

= [nflation rate projections;
= Discount rate for scheme liabilities; and
s Expected rates of return on the scheme assels.

Delails of post-retirement benefits including the major assumptions and the sensitivity of the post-retirement benefils
to the assumptions are sct out in Note 14, pension plan assumptions,
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26. Accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Impairment Reviews

IFRSs require management to test for the impairment of tangible assets with finite lives if events or changes in
circumstances indicale that the carrying amount of an assel may not be recoverable.

An impairment test requires an assessment as to whether the carrying value of asscts can be supported by its
recoverable amount. Management ¢alculates the recoverable amount based on the net present value of the future cash
flows derived from the relevant assets, using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate
discount rate.

In calculating the net present valuc of future cash flows, certain assumptions and estimates are required to be made in
respect of highly uncertain matters, including management’s expectation of:

*  growth rates of various revenue streams

*  long term growth rates

*  fulure margins

= the seleciion of an appropriately risk adjusted discount raie; and

# the determination of terminal values,

Changing the assumptions selected by managemenl. in partticular the discount rate used in the present value
calculation, could significantly affect the Group's impairment cvaluation and results,

For the purpase of umpairment testing {when required), to assess whether any impairment exists, cstimates are made
of the fulure cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposal, Actual outcomes could
vary significantly from such estimaies of discounted future cash flows. Faciors such as changes in the planned use of
buildings. plant or equipment, or closure of facilities, the prescnce or absence of competition, lower than expecled
asset atilisation from events such as planned outages, strikes and hurricanes, technical obsolescence or lower than
anticipated sale of products with capitalised intcllectual properiy rights could result in shortened lives or impairment.
Changes in discount rates could also lead to impairment. (Nore 10)

27. Subsequent events

Oun 10 January 2023, the Group repatd ia full their Senior Term and Revolving loan Facilitics. This was facilitated by
4 loan from the parent company, INEOS Industries Holdings Limiled.

In January 2023, an agreement was made with Petrolncos to writc off a number ol open debtor and creditor balances
that had been in dispute for a numbcer of years. There was no cash settlement betwecn the parties and this write off
has been adjusted for in the December 2022 results.
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Campany Balance Sheet

as at 31 Decembear 2022
Note 2022 2021
€000 €000
Fixed assets
Investiments 5 593,855 451,653
Tolal fixed asyets 593,855 451,653
Current assets
Debtors '3 3,380 3
Cash at bank and in hand 8 L
Fotal current assels 3,388 3,172
Creditars: amoonts falling due within une year 7 (307,53) (3,408)
Net current Rabilitles {394,146) (236)
‘Total assetd less current lkabllities 239,709 451,417
Creditors: amqunts falling due afier more than one year 8 (298,123) (444,796)
Net (linbilities)/assets (8,414) 6,621
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital » 57 57
Profil and loss acconnt * 8471) 6,564
Total sharehoiders” (deficit)/funds (§,414) 6,621

* The Parent Company recorded a loss aller tax lor the year of €15,035,000 (202/. profit after 1ax af €340.000).

The notes on pages 72 to 78 arc an integral part of these Company financial siatements.

The firancial statements on pages 70 to 78 were approved by Board of Directors on 4 July 2023 and sigred on its
behalf by:

C G Mound
Director
Registered Number 08658417



Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Jor the year ended 31 December 2022

Balance at | January 2021
Total comprehensive income for the year, comprising

Profil for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 December 2021

Balance at 1 January 2022
Total comprehensive expense for the year, comprising

Loss [or the financial year

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Balance at 31 December 2022

INEOS Grangemouth Limited
Annual report and financial stutements
31 December 2022

Called Profit and Total
up share Iuss shareholders’
capital account funds

€000 €000 €000

57 6,174 6,231

390 390

- 390 390

57 6,564 6,621
Called Profit and Total
vp share loss shareholders’
capital account funds/(deficit)

£000 €060 €000

57 6,564 6,621

- (15,035) (15,035)

- (15035 (15,035)

57 (8,471) (8,414)

The notes on pages 72 to 7§ are an integral part of these Company [inancial statements.
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1. Accounting Policies

Overview

INEOQS Grangemouth Limited (the “Company”) is a private limited company limited by shares incorporalted in the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act and iy registered in England and Wales. The registered office address is
Hawkslease, Chape! Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, England, UK, S043 7FG. The nature of the operations and
principal activitics of the Company and its subsidiarics is the production of olefins, olefins by-products, synthetic
ethanol and a range of polymer products and selling the products either directly or through a network of Limited Risk
Distributors in the UK and across Europe for which it pays a smali margin, and construction of a new encrgy plant on
the site at Grangemouth.

1.1 Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, on a going concern
basis and under the historical cost accounting rules,

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has taken cxemption from the requirement to present its
own profit and loss account.

The Company financial statements have been prepared on 4 going concern basis under the historical cost convention
and in accordance with the Companics Act 2006 as applicable to companies using Financing Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework ("FRS1017).

These financial statements werce prepared in accordance with Financing Reporling Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (“FRS101).

The consolidated {inancial statements of INEOS Grangemouth Limited are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under
FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures:

® A Cash flow Statcment and related notes;

=  Comparative period reconciliations for share capital;

s Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

*  Disclosures in respect of capital management;

=  Financial instrument disclosures as required by IFRS 7;

®*  The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs; and

= Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently in the Company’s
financial statements.

Judgements made by the directlors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the
financial stalements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note
12.

1.2 Measurement convention

The financial stalements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value: derivative financial instruments, financial instruments classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income or fair value through profit and loss.

72



INEOS Grangemouth Limited

Annuat report and financial siatements
3! December 2022

Notes to the Company Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting Policies (continued )

1.3 Going Cancern

The directors have considered the Company’s projected future cash Mows and working capital requircments. As at 31
Uecember 2022, the Company had net ligbilities of (€8,414,000) (2021 net ussets of €6,621,000). The Company held
cash of €8.000 (202/: €1,000) and loans and borrowings 1o third parties of €302,848.000 (2021: €301,034,000). The
loss for the year was €15,035,000 (2021 profit of €390,000). The directors have stress tested the projected future cash
flows through taking account of reasonabic possible changes in performance to determine the level of support that
may be required from the parent company. The directors have received confirmation that the paremt, INEOS Industrics
Limited, will continue to support the Company for at least the 12 months from signing of these financial statements.

After making cnquiries, the directors have a reasonable cxpectation that the parent’s going concern assessment
confirms that there is sufficient torecast committed liquidiry headroom fin (he parent to provide this support and the
Company will thercfore Lave adequate resources (0 comlinue in operational existence for the foresecable future.
Accordingly, the Company continucs to adopt the going congern basis in preparing its financial statemeats.

14 Functional and presentation currency
These Company financial statements are presented in curo, which is the functional currency of the majority of
operations. The exchange rate as at 31 December 2022 was €1:£0.88490 (202) €1.:£0.83960).

All financial information presented in eura has been rounded to the nearest €1,000.

1.5 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company

Financial instruments issucd by the Compary are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two
conditions:

a) they include no contractuai obligations upon the Company 10 deliver cash or other financial assets or to
cxchange lnancial assets or finuncial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially
unfavourablic to the Company; and

b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-
derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own cquily
instruments or is a derivative that will be scitled by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash or
other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the
instrurncal so clussilied takes the fegal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts preseated in these financial
statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in refation to those shares.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.6 Impact of new standards and interpretations

There are no amendments to accounting standards that are etfective {or the year ended 31 December 2022 which have
had a material impact on the Company.

1.7 Invesiments

Shares in affiliated undertakings are valued at purchase price inciuding the expenscs incidental therelo, less any
accumulated impairment loss.

The Company applics IFRS 9, including the impairment requircments, to long-tcrm interests in other group
undertakings to which the equity method is not applied and which form part of the net investment. Furthermore, in
applying IFRS 9 to long-tcrm intcrests, the Company does not take into account adjustments 1o their carrying amount
required by IAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests arising from the allocation of losses
of the investee or assessment of impairment in accordance with [AS 28)".

1.8 Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derived financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securitics, trade and other debtors, cash
and cash cquivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other creditors.

Trade and other debtors

Tradc and other debtors arc recognised initially a1 fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable (o the
acquisition or issuc. Subscquent (o initial recognition they are tested for classification as per [FRS 9. If the wade
debtors satisfy Lhe criteria for cash flow characteristics test and business model test as per IFRS S, then they are
recognised at amortised cost. If they do not qualify for being recognised al amortised cost they are recognised at Fair
value through profit or loss.

Trade and other creditors

Trade and other creditors are recognised initially al fair value Jess transaction costs that arc directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using lhe effective interest
method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Company's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows,

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings arc recognised initially at fair value less atwributable transaction costs. Subseguent 1o
initizl recognition, interest bearing borrowings are stated as amortised cost using the cffective interest method.
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2. Auditor’s remuneration

2022 2021

€000 €000

Audit of these financial statements 113 37
Amounts receivable by the Company'’s Audilor's and its associates in respect of

audit of consolidated {inancial statements 226 z21

339 58

3. Staff numbers and costs

There were no (2021 no) cmployees with contracts of ernployment in the name of the Company.

4. Directors’ remuneration

None (2021: none) of the directors received any fees or remuneration for services as a director of the Company during
the linancial year. The directors are remunerated for their qualifying scrvices by another group company for
contributions to the group as a whole and it is not possibie to apportion this te the Company.

5. Investments

The subsidiary and undertakings of the Company and the percealage of equily share capital held are set out below.
The principal country of operation is generally indicated by the Company’s country of incorporation or by its name,

Ownership
Address of the registered

Name oftice Class of shares held 2022 2021

INEOS Commercial Services UK Limited ** Hawksleasc, Chapel Lane, Ordinary [00% 100%
. . Lyndhurst, Hampshire,

[Company Registration Number 07445497] England, 043 7FG

INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited ** Hawkslease. Chapel Lane, Ordinary 100% 100%
. ) Lyrdhurst, Hampshire,

[Company Registration Number 06981897] Eﬁgland, S043 ”FFG

Grangemouth Energy Company Limited Hawkslease, Chape! Lane, Ordinary 70.4% 70.4%
. . Lyndhucst, Hampshire,

|Company Registralion Mumber | 1384522 England, 3043 ;I;JFG

On the date of approval and signing of the consolidated financial statcments, as sct out on page 19, the outstanding
liabitities at the balance sheet date, 31 December 2022, of the named subsidiaries were guaranteed by the parent
undertaking, INEOS Grangemouth Limited (registered number 08698417) pursuant (o s479A of the Companics Act.

**Audit cxemption
The subsidiary undertakings which have been conselidated in INEOS Grangemouth Limited consolidaied financial
statements and have claimed exemption from audit under section 479A Companies Act 2006,

INEOS Grangemouth Limited holds 100% of the issued I ordinary share capital in Grangemouth Energy Company

Limited. Grangemouth Energy Company Limiled has also issued P ordinary shares and non-voting ordinary shares
which arc not held by INEOS Grangemouth Limited.
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INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited is a “Toll Manufacturer”, INEQS Commercial Services UK Limited is an
“Entrepreneur™, Grangemouth Energy Company Limited is constructing a new energy plant on the Grangemouth site,
although the expected operational date is rot yet known. All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation.

.oans to
Shares in Loans to group
subsidiaries  subsidiarics undertakings Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Cost
Balance at | January 2022 | 450,549 1,103 451,653
Additions - 137,702 3 137,705
Exchange 4,497 - 4,497
Balance at 31 December 2022 1 592,748 1,106 593,855
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 1 450,549 1.103 451,653
At 31 December 2022 1 592,748 1,106 593,855
6. Debtors
2022 2021
€000 €000
Amounts due from group underlakings 3,380 3,161
{Other taxes recoverable - 10
3,380 3171

Amounts owed by group undertakings attract mterest at commercial rates that are cither subject to standard trading

terms or arg repayable on demand.

7. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Amounts due 1o third parties
Accruals

2022 2021
€000 €000
302,848 -
4,686 3.408
307,534 3.408
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8. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2022 2021

€000 €000

Amounts due to third parties - 301,034
Amounts due 10 group undertakings 298,123 143,762
298,123 444 796

Senior Secured Term I.0ans due 2025

On 14 Junc 2019, INEOS Grangemouth Limited entered into a 3 year €350,000,000 Senior Term and Revelving
Facilities agreement (“the Agreement™} with, inter alia. Lioyds Bank PLC as Administrative Agent, Lloyds Bank PL.C
as Security Agent and BNP Paribas, London Branch, Lloyds Rank PLC and Nadona! Westminster Bank PLC as
Global Coordinators. Subsequently on 23 July 2020, the agreement was extended to June 2025.

Under the terms of the Agreement, on 3 July 2019, INEOS Grangemouth Limited fully drew down the €200,000,000
Term loan. As at 31 December 2022 €105,000.,000 202/ €105,000.000) of the £150,000,000 Revolving Facility
Loar had been drawn down. On 10 January 2023, the joans were repaid in full (see Note 13), so they have been
classified as a current liability as at 31 December 2022.

The Agrcement has a variable interest rate between 2.25%-3.25% per annum depending on the leverage of INEOS
Grangemouth Limited and its subsidiarics which is payable in arrears on the last day of cach six month interest period.
As at 31 December 2022 the Agreement bore interest at 3.25% (2021: 2.5%).

INEOS Grangemouth Limiled and its subsidiaries guarantee the obligations under the Senior Secured Term Loans.

The Credit Agrecment contains a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations on indebtedness,
resiricled payments, lransactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

As referenced earlicr, the Group encountered various challenges during the year such as the effects of high inflation
and the Ukraine war, which had a profound impact on the business duc to the Group's high steam and power demand,
resufting in significant exposurc to natural gas prices. Accordingly, the Group requested and was granted consent (o
waive the leverage financial covenant at both 30 May 2022 and 22 September 2022, The leverage covenant at 31
December 2022 was remediated post year end via the (ull repayment of the Senior Term and Revolving Loan Facilitics

on 10 January 2023.

Loans from group undectakings

The Company has a €250,000,000 multi-currency term loan facility from INEOS Industries Holdings Limited, which
matures on 31 December 2025 and carrics an interest rate of 7%. The facility is secured by sccond ranking liens
against ail assets of the Group.

The Company has a £76,416.800 sub-participation agreement with INEQOS FPS Limited for the lunding of the new
power plant at Grangemouth, INEQS FPS Limited will fund 33.5% of the total construction cost, this agreement
matures in 2043 and carries an inlerest rate of 5.53%.
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9. Called up share capitai

2022 2021
€000 €000

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
S7.000 (2021 57,000} ordinary shares of €1 each 57 57
Ordinary
Number of shares shares
On issue at 1 January and 31 December 2022 — fully paid 57,100

The holders are entitied to reccive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitied to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company.

Dividends
A dividend has not been paid or declared in the year (2021 €nil).

10. Related party transactions

During the ycar the Company enlered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other rclated partics.
The Company has taken advantage of the excrption under paragraph B(k) of FR§101 not to disclosc transactions with
fellow subsidiarics under common ownership.

11. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party
The immediate parcnt undertaking at 31 December 2022 is INEOS Industries Holdings Limited.
The ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2022 is INEOS Limited, a company registered in the Isle of Man.

INEQS Grangemouth Limited, a company incorporated in the UK, is the smallest group of undertakings o consolidate
these financial statcments.

INEOS Induvstries Limited, a company incorperated in the UK, is the parent undertaking of the largest group of
underiakings to consolidate these financial statements, Copies of the financial statements of INEQS Industries Limited
can be obtained from the Company Secretary at the registercd office: Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst,
Hampshire, UK, SO43 7FG.

The directors regarded Mr J A Ratcliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by vinue of his majority shareholding in
the ultimate parcnt undertaking INEOS Limited.

12. Accounting estimates and judgements

The Company prepares its financial statements in accerdance with FRS 101, which requires management (o make
judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application ol the accounting policies, and the reported
ameunts of asscts, liabilitics. income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and
assumptions arc¢ revicwed on an ongoing basis. Revisions Lo accounling estimates arc recognised in the period in
which the cstimates change and in any future periods. There is no area within the financial statements that involve a
significant degree of judgement or estimation.

13. Subsequent events

On 10 January 2023, the Company repaid in full their Senior Term and Revolving loan Facilities. This was facilitated
by a loan from the parent company, INEOS Industries Holdings Limited.
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